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Thursday, October 28, 2010

--- On commencing at 9:11 a.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.

Good morning.  Do we have any preliminary matters before, I believe it is Mr. Shepherd is...

Preliminary Matters:


MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, there is one preliminary matter that I should raise, and that is an update on information relating to the various scenarios that had been asked as part of an undertaking earlier.

I had indicated that we would have a bit more information.  We have more information now and I do have that information, and I am not going to say whether I am the bearer of good news or bad news.  I am the bearer of news.

There were three scenarios OPG was asked to look at.  Pickering A and B at 2020, Darlington at 2051 was the first scenario.  Scenario 2 was Pickering A and B at 2014, Darlington at 2019, and scenario 3, Pickering A at 2021, Pickering B at 2014 and Darlington 2019.

There were a number of questions that were asked in respect of that, and they essentially were:  Can OPG turn around the depreciation issue, only, quickly?  Is there -- the first.  The second is:  Is there some sort of rough-and-ready method that could be used to give you directional numbers, for example?  And the third was:  How long will it take you to do the scenarios?

And the update, I can tell you, is, with respect to the third scenario that I have described, that can be done relatively quickly, because that information is essentially the information that can be found at lines 5, 6 and 7 of Exhibit D2, tab 2, schedule 1, page 3, chart 1, and that compares the impacts of the Darlington refurbishment project to a scenario with no refurbishment project, assuming the end of life dates in scenario 3.  So you have that.

Scenarios 1 and 2 are much more problematic.  And dealing first with the question of whether just the depreciation can be looked at, the answer to that is no, and the reason for that is because, if you look at D2, tab 2, schedule 1, chart 1, and I guess more specifically line 5, a significant component of the impact on depreciation expense is the change in the asset retirement cost which occurs when you change the service lives of the stations.

And without determining the asset retirement costs for scenarios 1 and 2, you can't meaningfully measure the impact of the change in depreciation.

The second question that you asked was whether or not there was a more simplified method, and the answer to that is really no, and I will expand on that, because I think you may want -- tell me if you don't, but there is a long reason why that is so.  And, essentially, to recalculate the asset retirement obligation, OPG needs to do -- needs to change the end of life dates and needs to look at three different areas:  System planning, cost estimating, and the asset retirement obligations themselves.

Under cost estimating alone, OPG will need to develop cost estimates for five programs based on revised system plans above.  They will need to look at interim storage of used fuel, used fuel disposal, low and intermediate level waste operations, low and intermediate waste disposal, as well as decommissioning.

And cost estimates for used fuel storage and decommissioning are developed at the station level, but at the program level -- sorry, for cost estimates for used fuel and low and intermediate level waste, storage and disposal, those are developed at the program level, because they're centrally located, and then allocated to the station.  So all of that work will need to be done.

The long and short of that is that, in OPG's estimate, the earliest it can provide this, including by working overtime, is November 19th.  And that -- just by way of observation, that is much compressed to the time frame it would normally take to do this, but they will -- we can commit to that date.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I am curious.  This is perhaps a bit of a tangent, but will be of very real significance further down the line.  If, in the Board's decision, there is some alternative view for regulatory purposes different from what the company has included in its application, are we looking at some significant period of time to generate a draft payment order, because generally the time --


MR. SMITH:  Well, I imagine the answer to that is no, for this reason.  Assuming the Board's decision is based upon one of the scenarios that is being requested, then additional work would not be required, because that is the work that is going into generating the undertaking.

The undertaking is going to give you the financial consequences of the different scenarios that are being proposed.  So provided the Board's decision -- obviously, this isn't OPG's application, but provided the decision is based upon one of the scenarios, then you will have -- you will have the results by November 19th, which obviously would be before any decision was rendered.

So the answer to it is no.  If the Board were to choose a different scenario, that would obviously be problematic, and, in my submission, obviously we would say that wouldn't be right, because you wouldn't have the evidence in front of you and you can't interpolate from these scenarios, but that would be more problematic.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Do other parties have...

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I have a different concern, and that is that whenever we get this information, it will, at that point, be untested evidence.  And given the dollar significance that it could have in this proceeding, one would think that it shouldn't be part of the decision unless it has been tested, and that would mean we would have to have some sort of hearing after it's provided.  That is my first concern.

My second concern is I am not sure I understand how this information hasn't already been calculated in the past, at least in 2010, because they made a big change in 2010 from one scenario to another.  So we must have at least two of the scenarios already done from 2010.

And I would have thought that, in looking at Pickering continued operations, they would have been looking at the other scenarios, as well, as a matter of course.  And, in fact, if they haven't, I would have thought that that is relevant information for the Board in determining the prudence of their expenditures.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Any other intervenors with submissions or views?  Mr. Millar, do you have anything from Staff?

MR. MILLAR:  I don't.

MR. SMITH:  If I can respond to that, and I will take them in the order in which Mr. Shepherd presented them.

The first is, to my mind, it is not a compelling argument that the evidence will be untested.  It comes back to when this information should have been asked.  I mean, this has been asked by way of an undertaking.

If my friend had wanted this information or felt that it was fundamental to his case or anybody else's, obviously he had an opportunity to ask for this during interrogatories and could cross-examine the existing panel on it.

I don't think that, having chosen not to ask interrogatories on the matter, subsequently asking undertakings, he is in a position to ask that OPG call the panel back long after the case has been put in.

With respect to the second submission, as I indicated at the outset, the information that has been done is the -- the work that has been done is the work that is in the application and which forms the basis of OPG's claim in this case, along with the information set out in scenario 3.  So additional work has been done.  It's not correct to say that no additional work has been done.

With respect to scenarios 1 and 2, as I said, the work is has not been -- has not been done, at least in its entirety.  There may have been some preliminary work done, but this is not a simple task.  And if my friend, who is now cross-examining this panel, wishes to ask Mr. Mauti about that, he can certainly feel free to do so, but it is just simply not the case that we can turn it around any quicker than what we have indicated.

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  Well, the Panel will consider this over the morning break and we will return to this after the break.

So, Mr. Shepherd, whenever you are ready.
ONTARIO POWER GENERATION - PANEL 8, resumed


John Lee, Sworn Previously


John Mauti, Sworn Previously


Kathleen McShane, Sworn Previously


Randy Pugh, Sworn Previously

Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I am actually going to move to a different area, and that is return on equity.

And I provided copies -- I provided copies of an exhibit that is in evidence already, so I don't think it needs an exhibit number.  It is Exhibit A2, tab 1, schedule 1, attachment 3, which is the audited financial statements for 2009 of the prescribed facilities only.

This is something that the Board ordered in the last payment decision to be produced.  And so it has been produced, audited by Ernst & Young.  I have a number of questions arising out of this, so I provided copies for ease of reference.

Do you have that, witnesses?

MR. PUGH:  We have the information, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And you have seen these financial statements before, right, Mr. Pugh?

MR. PUGH:  I have seen them, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And Ms. McShane, have you seen these financial statements?

MS. McSHANE:  I have not studied these financial statements, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You did an analysis of cost of capital for this entity, yes?

MS. McSHANE:  In the last proceeding, I did.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you reviewed it -- you updated your analysis for this proceeding; right?

MS. McSHANE:  What I did in this proceeding was try to determine what different capital structures for the two pieces of the entity would be.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How did you do that without looking at the financial statements?

MS. McSHANE:  I did look at the company's financial statements.  I did not have these financial statements.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so I am going to ask Mr. Pugh, then, you had an expert who was supposed to look at the cost of capital for the facilities that are in these financial statements.  Why didn't you give your expert the financial statements?

MR. PUGH:  I think what I -- our RFP asked her to do specifically was to look at whether there are empirical ways of coming up with a robust method to come up with a technology-specific cost of capital.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And no part of that would be assisted by having the financial statements for the assets in question?

MR. PUGH:  I don't presume to know what her analysis would be.  And I don't presume to do it for her.  So if she is looking at something and looking at the data required of the company, and that is a method that she thought was worthy of pursuit, then she would ask for the existence of those statements.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Ms. McShane, did you know that these statements existed prior to doing your analysis?

MS. McSHANE:  Not these specific statements, no.

I did look at financial information for the individual pieces of the company.  I looked at all of the historic test year data, the data that was available for the bridge year, but I did not look at these specific statements.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  And you didn't know they existed until --


MS. McSHANE:  I wasn't aware that they existed at the time, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Fine.  So I don't know who these questions are for.  Probably you, Mr. Pugh, but whoever wants to answer them, feel free.

I am going to start at page 2 of this statement, which has --


MR. PUGH:  I am going to try to help you, but this was the evidence of Nathan Reeve on the previous panel.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I understand.

MR. PUGH:  I will try to help you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am going to ask questions about cost of capital.  I assume if you are the witnesses on cost of capital, that you have at least seen your financial statements.

MR. PUGH:  This is the input into -- this is historic.  This is the input into the evidence that I do, which takes -- this is a starting point, and makes regulatory adjustments to that.

So as I said, I will try and help you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, I am going to do my best to ask the questions of this panel, but clearly this is the cost of capital panel, and the fact that the evidence is from somebody else shouldn't make a difference to cost of capital questions, I would have thought.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Let's proceed with the questions and see if we run into difficulties.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm starting with page 2 of this document, and this is the consolidated statement of income.

At the top of the -- the first line is revenue.  So for example, in 2009 you have gross revenue before your fuel expense of $3.687 billion.

Do you see that?

MR. PUGH:  What line are you looking?  It's gross margin?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, it is revenue.

MR. PUGH:  Revenue, yes, I see that number.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And that includes all of your sources of revenue for the prescribed facilities; right?

MR. PUGH:  I would have to read the notes.  Excuse me.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So --


MR. PUGH:  Notes 3 -- and note 15.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If you can go to page --


Page 15 has segmented information.  We are going to get to that.

MR. PUGH:  I am just going to read the revenue recognition on page 12.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You can see what revenue is included, if you like, on page 47.

MR. PUGH:  The revenue does seem to have -- from the three business segments are considered to be part of the prescribed facilities, the nuclear generation, the regulated hydroelectric, as well as the nuclear waste management.

So again, I was not involved in preparation of these statements, but they do seem to represent the revenue for the prescribed facilities, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The revenue includes payments from the OPA for -- under the global adjustment mechanism; right?  That is part of your gross revenue; right?  For the prescribed facilities?

MR. PUGH:  My understanding is the payments from the OPA bring us up to our prescribed payment amounts.  To the extent that is all that is reflected in there, that is what it reflects.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  So I am looking at that number, and then I went to page -- and this is where I am confused -- I went to page 51.  Page 51 is a disclosure, a required disclosure, in note 16, of transactions with affiliates, related entities.

And what it has is electricity sales, and the electricity sales number is all listed to IESO, but does IESO pay you the global adjustment amount?  Or is that paid by OPA?

MR. PUGH:  I am not 100 percent sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Perhaps I will ask Mr. Smith.  Can I ask that of panel 10?  Would they know?

MR. SMITH:  Well, let me answer it this way.  I don't know whether panel 10 will know, but --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Microphone.

MR. SMITH:  But OPG will know, and if what you want is to get an undertaking to --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I can't hear you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Your microphone isn't on.

MR. SMITH:  I don't know whether panel 10 will know, but OPG will know.  And if you want an undertaking in respect of that, we will provide it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So what I would like to know is where in the related party transactions are the payments from the OPA.

MR. MILLAR:  J12.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. J12.1: to EXPLAIN WHERE OPA PAYMENTS ARE IN RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then the next thing I want to ask you about is what you referred me to already, Mr. Pugh, and that is page 47, the segmented information.

MR. PUGH:  Actually, you referred me to that, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, did I?  Yeah, okay.

MR. PUGH:  You did.  I am there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Purely accidental.

MR. PUGH:  I am just following you, sir.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am right in understanding, am I not, that the financial statements are statements of management?  Right?  The auditors don't do the financial statements; the auditors only review them?

MR. PUGH:  The auditors render opinion on the financial statements, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  The actual breakdowns and everything in the financial statements, those are all the responsibility of management; right?

MR. PUGH:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So these, the three segments here that you have selected, these are the segments that management has selected as the appropriate segments to report for financial statement purposes; right?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.  The segments that you see under note 15 to the financials are the segments that, first off, OPG uses internally as part of internal management, and they meet the definitions of disclosure for business segments, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Wonderful.

So I am looking at page 47.  Page 47 has your segment income for the 2009 year, and the bottom line says:  "Income before interest and income taxes."  So that is the famous EBIT; right?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And just look over to hydroelectric.  That is $327 million, is the amount of income you actually had for hydroelectric in 2009, before you paid interest, before you paid taxes, and before your net profit; right?

MR. MAUTI:  That's what it would say, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so I can then go to two pages on, page 49, where you have the assets, and I can look and see what are the assets you actually had to finance with that money.  And it is 3.791 billion; right?  For hydroelectric?

MR. MAUTI:  Those are the in-service assets prior to the construction work in progress, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, CWIP in progress would not have been in rate base, for example, at that time; right?

MR. MAUTI:  I believe not, no.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so I do the math and I come up with this $327 million for hydroelectric income being enough to pay your interest on your debt, your PILs and your Board-approved rate of return and have more left over.  Am I right?

MR. MAUTI:  I would have no idea, sir.  I have never done those calculations, and I don't know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that something that you could calculate for me?

MR. PUGH:  Jay, maybe I can help you with one thing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. PUGH:  Can I take you to Exhibit C1, tab 1, schedule 1?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. PUGH:  Table 7.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It will take me a minute, unless Mr. Buonaguro is faster than I am.  That was a hint.

MR. PUGH:  That's an interesting -- the responsibility for the evidence -- sorry.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So C1, tab 1 --


MR. PUGH:  -- schedule 1.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Table 7?

MR. PUGH:  Table 7.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. PUGH:  And it is tiny writing.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Where do you see the responsibility for the evidence, by the way?

MR. PUGH:  That was on the first thing that Mr. Buonaguro flipped up.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.

MR. PUGH:  On that first line, you see on 2009 --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. PUGH:  -- hydroelectric.  You see the figure 326.5?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. PUGH:  When you tie that -- go back to your hydroelectric segment on page 47 that you were referring me to.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Hmm-hmm.  Yes.

MR. PUGH:  Under the hydroelectric, that income before interest and income taxes amount, you will see 327.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Absolutely, okay.

MR. PUGH:  If you take the two, the nuclear generation segment of 212, page 47 --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. PUGH:  -- and add it to the nuclear waste management segment of 67 million, also on page 47, you will get the 279.5 on the 2009, under column E of line 1 of Exhibit C1, tab 1, schedule 1, table 7.

So what -- I am responsible for Exhibit C1, tab 1, schedule 7 -- schedule 1, table 7, which starts off with the accounting income.  I just wanted to show you how it tied into the evidence on return on equity, which is the bottom line number on this schedule, that transfers into the return on equity schedules that appear at Exhibit C1, tab 1, schedule 1, table 4 for 2009 and C1, tab 1, schedule 1, table 5 for 2008.

So that is where my link comes into the cost of capital.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But T1, tab 1, schedule 1, table 4 is not segmented; right?

MR. PUGH:  No.  That is the total cost of capital number.  The segments come in C1, tab 1, schedule 1, table 7.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  But table 7 doesn't do the calculation of the return on equity, and that is where I was going with that.  You will --


MR. PUGH:  It establishes the return.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right.  But you will agree with me that your return in 2009, the last year you have audited financial statements for this - and in fact last year you have actual information, on hydroelectric - your return was at or above the Board-approved rate of return; right?

MR. PUGH:  I'm sorry, where are you pointing to, Jay?

MR. SHEPHERD:  $136.2 million.  That is at or above the Board-approved rate of return, isn't it?

MR. PUGH:  I don't know.  At or above the rate of return for?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you had a Board-approved rate of return --


MR. PUGH:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  -- based on a certain equity slice, right, a certain equity thickness?

MR. PUGH:  And where is -- I'm sorry, what number are you -- where is the equity thickness you're referring to?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry.  Do you know what your equity thickness is?  What is the percentage --


MR. PUGH:  It is 47 percent, yes, but you're talking about a return for hydro, are you not?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. PUGH:  My equity thickness for hydro?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. PUGH:  It would be 47.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  So $136.2 million is sufficient to cover your Board-approved rate of return for your equity thickness for hydro, is that right, or do you want to --


MR. PUGH:  I would have to calculate it.  I would have to take...  7.6.  That would be less than the Board-approved rate of return.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have 7.6?

MR. PUGH:  Subject to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. PUGH:  And we had an approved rate of return of 8.65, so I don't think you are correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  My math must be wrong.

MR. PUGH:  Perhaps.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me take you back to the financial statements for a second, because what I am trying to get at -- here's where I was going with this, is the -- on the nuclear generation side, you've done quite a bit worse relative to your assets than on hydroelectric; right?

If you look at those two years, I mean, in 2008 you had 34 million in interest -- in income before interest and taxes, and in 2009, you had 212 million, neither of which would appear to be anywhere close to being enough to cover $2.6 billion of assets; right?

MR. PUGH:  That would be correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And I am right, am I not, that the nuclear waste management component, while for accounting purposes is treated as a separate segment, for regulatory purposes is part of your nuclear; right?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. PUGH:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so while you have no assets listed there, you had a loss in 2008 of almost $600 million and a gain of only $67 million in 2009; right?

MR. PUGH:  Where are you looking?

MR. SHEPHERD:  I am looking again at pages 47 and 48.

MR. PUGH:  Forty-seven and 48, sorry?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Forty-eight is 2008.

MR. PUGH:  Forty-eight, yes.  I'm turning the page.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You see that $572 million loss?

MR. PUGH:  I see that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And then you had in 2009 a $67 million gain, but that was only because your investments recovered; right?  You actually lose money on that generally every year; right?

MR. PUGH:  Let me look at the --


MR. MAUTI:  The accretion of return on seg funds are the two largest components of the nuclear waste management segment, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.  And, generally, the accretion will be more than the return on the seg funds; normally, but not always, obviously?

MR. MAUTI:  It would depend on the value of the seg funds, the earnings in the seg funds, so I couldn't speculate whether it is always above or below.  It depends.

MR. SHEPHERD:  On average, it has to be below, right, because you have to make contributions to keep topping it up; right?  You have a contribution schedule.  The reason you have a contribution schedule is because the earnings aren't enough to cover the accretion; right?

MR. MAUTI:  No.  There could be many different reasons why there could be contributions, depending on changes in the liability values over time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  What I am trying to get to here, obviously inelegantly, is you are not doing very well on nuclear, it appears, and largely because of your nuclear decommissioning costs; right?  That is, operationally, if you didn't have to decommission these things, then operationally you are not on, but you are close.

MR. PUGH:  I'm sorry, Mr. Shepherd, I know there were a number of different things that were affecting our earnings before interest and taxes in 2008 and 2009.

I am struggling to find out how this is related to the return on equity.  So if you could help me -- help me somehow help you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me ask a couple of more questions, and then we will see whether it all miraculously comes together.

The payments you have from the OPA under the global adjustment mechanism relate to the difference between the market price for your product and the prescribed amount, the payment amount; right?

MR. PUGH:  I can tell you the net number we have on these statements that relates to our prescribed asset -- or prescribed payment amounts.  That is within my knowledge base.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Let me approach this a different way.

MR. PUGH:  Was there not an undertaking to address that?  I can't remember the exact details of the undertaking, but I can tell you the revenue line in the prescribed statement you are looking at –-

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I am not going to waste more time with this.  Let me ask, can you in the undertaking, please, disaggregate that global adjustment amount between hydroelectric and nuclear?

It should be straightforward to do; right?  You know what the payments are for each.  You know what the global adjustment payment was.

MR. SMITH:  Not that I doubt Mr. Shepherd's assertion that it must be possible, I think I should prudently take a look at whether it is possible.  And if it is possible, we will provide it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  Same one.  That is included in the same undertaking?

MS. CHAPLIN:  That is still part of J12.1.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the other thing I wanted to ask you questions about is this.

And maybe, Ms. McShane, you are the expert in cost of capital, maybe you could help us with this.

In the private sector, the cost of capital of a company that is a price taker in the market is driven first by their revenues; right?  That is to say, if they want -- if their revenues are a given and if they want to adjust their ROE, they have to do it by either reducing their costs or increasing -- increasing their margin; right?

MS. McSHANE:  So let's make a distinction between the cost of capital and the return on equity.  So you are talking about what a private company actually earns --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MS. McSHANE:  -- on?  And if a company is a price taker, which means the company has no ability to set the market price, then in order for that company to increase its ROE, then it will have to do something to increase its revenues.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They only have --


MS. McSHANE:  Or something to reduce its costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They only have really two choices.  They can increase their revenues in terms of number of units sold and get economies of scale, or they can reduce their costs, but in either case, the net is to reduce their unit costs; right?

MS. McSHANE:  Well --


MR. SHEPHERD:  If they don't do that, they can't change their ROE?

MS. McSHANE:  The big thing would be to try to reduce their costs.  I mean, if you are talking about a truly competitive company, as opposed to one who obviously can, you know, have some ability to impact consumers' willingness to buy their product, yes, the main thrust would be on costs.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you made a comment the other day -- and I don't actually have the transcript reference, I'm sorry, but we can find it, but I am sure you will remember it -- to the effect that OPG is in a sort of strange hybrid situation where their revenues are set in part by the market and in part by regulation.

Is that right?  Do you recall that?

MS. McSHANE:  You're talking about OPG, the consolidated company?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, the regulated company, because they get some of their revenues from HOEP, and then they get the rest from the global adjustment mechanism.

MS. McSHANE:  Well, that, to my mind, that is just a way of separating them out, but that doesn't mean that their revenues are determined which the market price.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the market is determining the value of its product; right?

MS. McSHANE:  The market is determining the market price, but the global adjustment is determining the difference between the market price and what OPG receives as a result of having prescribed payments.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  And so OPG gets an additional payment because their costs exceed the market price; is that right?

MS. McSHANE:  It gets the difference between the two, and it depends on how the market price relates to the -- the prescribed payment at any point in time.  It could be more or less.

MR. SHEPHERD:  True.  But let's take the hypothetical that consistently, month after month, the global adjustment is paying OPG some amount.  Let's take that as a hypothetical.

In those circumstances, it is true, isn't it, that the market is setting the value of the product, but then the -- in effect, the legislation is topping up that amount to cover costs; right?

MS. McSHANE:  If the market price is lower than the prescribed payment, then there will be additional revenues to OPG.

I mean, if the market price is higher, then there will be credits.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  And in the private sector, if you can't sell at the market price, what do you do?

MS. McSHANE:  You don't sell.

MR. SHEPHERD:  If the market price isn't enough to cover your costs, what happens?

MS. McSHANE:  Then you have lower earnings.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  When you looked at the equity risk premium for this company -- the equity risk premium test looks at the revealed market ROE; right?

MS. McSHANE:  Could we just back up before I answer that question?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MS. McSHANE:  Let's remember that we weren't going back and looking at the equity risk premium again.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand.

MS. McSHANE:  What was being done here was to try to determine what the appropriate capital structure was.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.  But it is also true that you are the only person that is here today that has actually looked at the equity risk premium as it applies to OPG; right?  You did look at it?

MS. McSHANE:  Well, yes, in the sense that we looked at the overall cost of capital and the determination of sort of a benchmark return in the last proceeding.

There was not a specific study this time to determine what the equity risk premium, in a -- I will say in a global sense was.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In doing that review, you look at companies that have a particular -- you look at the return on equity of companies in the market, and those are market -- market judgments on how much they should make, given their costs and their prices; right?

MS. McSHANE:  What my analysis looked at were -- was other regulated companies.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Your original analysis in 2007 was only regulated companies?

MS. McSHANE:  Well, okay.  So if we go back to 2007, the 2007 analysis was intended to estimate an appropriate capital structure for the entire prescribed assets, and a rate-of-return on equity for the total prescribed assets.

So in that context, when I looked at the fair return on equity, yes, I looked beyond regulated companies to unregulated companies, competitive companies that would be of reasonably comparable risk.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the reason why you do that -- sorry to interrupt you -- but the reason why you do that is because if you just look at other regulated companies, then it is a bunch of regulators sort of feeding each other information, whereas if you look at the market you have real empirical data; right?

MS. McSHANE:  There is some circularity in every single test, but yes, if you look at the comparable earnings test for purposes of determining a fair return on equity, then you are outside that circularity concern.

That analysis was done in 2007.  That's not what was being done here.

In this proceeding, we already had gotten to the point where we had an overall cost of capital, including an overall capital structure, an overall rate-of-return on equity.

So the objective in this proceeding was to try to make separations between the two.

There was no going back to what was going on with unregulated companies.  It was simply an attempt to try to make a distinction between the two technologies.

So there was no analysis of unregulated companies.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that.  And my questions about segmented earnings probably led you off in that direction, but I am actually asking something quite different.

In 2008 and 2009, particularly in the United States, a number of companies had to be bailed out, right, because they suddenly were not making any money relative to the past?  True?

MS. McSHANE:  There were a number of companies that were bailed out.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And am I right in understanding that the appropriate rate of return for a company that is being bailed out, that's getting a subsidy, is probably different than the appropriate rate of return for a company that is competing in the market, if there is a market price?  If there is not a market price, I get it.  But if there is, then typically the appropriate rate of return would be different; is that true?

MS. McSHANE:  I don't understand what the distinction you're making is.

I mean, the companies that had to be bailed out were companies that obviously were risky.  So the cost of capital for those companies was quite high.

MR. SHEPHERD:  They were risky, so -- the U.S. banks were risky?

MS. McSHANE:  Well, they obviously had more risk than investors perceived them to have.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, the banks were sort of in the same group of companies as the ones you used in your last study, weren't they?

MS. McSHANE:  In --


MR. SHEPHERD:  The low risk companies?

MS. McSHANE:  No.  I didn't use banks.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But they would be in that similar risk range, right, at that time?

MS. McSHANE:  There may have been banks that were considered to be relatively low risk that turned out not to be, but I have never used banks or financial service companies in my comparable earnings analysis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have no further questions, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Mr. Rubin, I believe you are next.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Actually, Energy Probe's cross will be begun by my friend, Mr. Schwartz.

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right, thank you.  Mr. Schwartz, why don't you go ahead?
Cross-Examination by Dr. Schwartz:

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good morning, my name is Larry Schwartz on behalf of Energy Probe Research Foundation.

Most of my questions will be for Ms. McShane and will relate to her report, Exhibit C3-1-1.

Ms. McShane, just to be clear, is your report based on a mandate from OPG to determine whether technology-specific capital structures could be based on an empirical analysis with an acceptable degree of rigour?  I believe that is what you said yesterday.  I just want to confirm it.

MS. McSHANE:  I think that is a relatively fair assessment of what I was asked to do.

I took myself as my cue the Board's last decision, which was -- which concluded that the information that they had, in terms of technology-specific capital structures, was not sufficient to allow them to set technology-specific capital structures.

So my conclusion was that the Board was looking for something more rigorous and more empirical.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.  This is not a big issue, but OPG asked you to determine whether technology-specific capital structures could be based on an empirical analysis with an acceptable degree of rigour, and that is the question you answered?

MR. PUGH:  We did.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  So, in other words, OPG did not ask you for your opinion on whether its capital expenditure review would be improved by using technology-specific capital structures?  They didn't ask you for that?

MR. PUGH:  I believe we have an RFP in the evidence, and that wasn't part of the RFP.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  That's what I had assumed.  That was my question.  Thank you.

Now, again, just to be clear, and as I think I heard it yesterday, is your general approach that the Board's formula ROE will not accurately reflect the business risks of OPG's nuclear and regulated hydro businesses; and, hence, separate capital structures, to the extent that they can be identified, should be established to compensate for an ROE -- for that ROE shortcoming so that the overall cost of capital for each technology actually -- accurately reflects those risks, among others?

MS. McSHANE:  That was a very, very long question --


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Should I repeat it?

MS. McSHANE:  -- with some assumptions in it, I believe.  So let's --


DR. SCHWARTZ:  I will repeat it.

MS. McSHANE:  Can we try it again?

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Again, I am trying to state what I thought I heard you say yesterday.  Is your general approach that the Board's formula ROE will not accurately reflect the business risks of OPG's nuclear and regulated hydro businesses; and, hence, separate capital structures, to the extent that they can be identified, should be established to compensate for that ROE shortcoming, so that the overall cost of capital reflects those risks?

MS. McSHANE:  I guess I have -- I have sort of a basic issue with the way you've characterized the situation.

The Board's formula ROE is intended to -- at least the way I interpret it, is intended to represent the fair return for a benchmark utility.  And there may be slightly different interpretations among people of what a benchmark utility is, but I take that to mean an average risk utility.

It would be applicable to a given utility at the appropriate capital structure, representative of that individual utility's business risks.

So I don't view the Board's formula as having shortcomings.  I view the Board's formula as having been established for a specific purpose and applicable to a specific level of risk, with the recognition that differences in business risk will be reflected in capital structure.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  I believe you said yesterday that the capital structures that might be relevant -- the appropriate capital structures should reflect the equity risk premium that cannot be found in the Board's ROE, because it is a particular formula.

MS. McSHANE:  It doesn't have anything to do with whether it is a formula or not.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  No, no, but the number which comes out which, according to your calculation, is 9.850, or something, that might not, as I heard you say yesterday, include the appropriate risk premium if we looked at either hydro or nuclear; that is, some sort of kind of formula average of the two.

Therefore, you are advocating or you suggest that if we're going to design separate capital structures for the two businesses, they ought to compensate in some way.  They ought to be adjusted so that the appropriate risk premium that isn't included in the ROE isn't reflected in the capital structure.

This is not an adverse question.  I am just trying to restate what I think I heard you say.

MR. SMITH:  Well, with respect, if my friend is trying to recharacterize evidence, then I don't think that is appropriate.  If he has a specific question, that's fine.  But Ms. McShane's evidence obviously is now reproduced in the transcript, and, if my friend wishes to take her to it, then I suggest that he do so.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  No.  We can leave it at that.  Thank you.

Your report quotes the Board decision in EB-2007-0905 that, and I quote:
"'The overall cost of capital for OPG's prescribed facilities'..."

End of quote at page 10 of your report:
"...will not be altered by the adoption of separate cost of capital for nuclear and regulated hydro."

Is it your understanding that the Board's reference to OPG's quote-unquote "overall cost of capital for the prescribed facilities" is a weighted average cost of capital in which the overall equity and debt costs are weighted by their overall equity and debt ratios, respectively?

MS. McSHANE:  Well, if you go back to what the Board actually did in EB-2007-0905, it established an overall cost of capital with one debt cost, one capital structure and one ROE.

Then it allocated the overall return that came out of applying that overall cost of capital to the total rate base, to be financed by capital structure.

It allocated that on the basis of the rate base of the hydroelectric and the nuclear operations.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  I think you and I would agree that we both understand what the concept of weighted average cost of capital is.  It is all in the finance textbooks.

Is that what, in your understanding, what the Board refers to as the overall cost of capital for OPG's prescribed facilities?

MS. McSHANE:  That was my understanding, yes.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Thank you.  It was mine, as well.

Is it your understanding that in determining this overall weighted average cost of capital for the prescribed facilities, that the equity cost to be used is the value produced by the Board's ROE formula, whatever it might be at the time, and that the overall equity ratio is 47 percent?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Thank you.  Is it your understanding that there could be different weighted average costs of capital for OPG's nuclear and regulated hydro, subject only to the Board's required formula value for the ROE and the overall equity ratio of 47 percent?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  If there were differences in the appropriate ROE and equity ratio for nuclear and regulated hydro, would it be necessary to apply a weighting scheme to ensure that the average of the separate ROEs and equity ratios equal the values established by the Board?

MS. McSHANE:  Well, my understanding is that the Board's formula -– sorry, the Board's decision said that the overall cost of capital would be the same, whether or not there were technology-specific capital structures.

So I would take from that that whatever the -- if the Board decided that it needed to apply technology-specific capital structures, that the overall dollars of return that should arise should not be any different than if the Board applied its overall cost of capital, including 47 percent common equity, and the Board-formula ROE.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  I think your previous -- the answer to your previous question -- my previous question to you, which I think you answered in the affirmative is, is your understanding that there could be different weighted average cost of capital for OPG's regulated -- nuclear and regulated hydro, subject only to the Board's requirement, required formula value for the overall ROE and the overall equity ratio of 47 percent.

And you said that you agreed with that; there could be.

MS. McSHANE:  That the weighted average cost of capital for the nuclear operations and the hydroelectric operations could be different.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Yes, right.  But then we would have to work it out -- and this is my next question to you -- that whatever those weighted average costs of capital were, there would have to be some sort of weighting system to ensure that they were consistent with the Board's overall equity formula figure, whatever it was, and the overall equity ratio, 47 percent?

MS. McSHANE:  I guess you could do it that way.  Or you could do it from the perspective that you know what the ultimate objective is, and work backwards.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  All right, then.  That somewhat anticipates my next question.  Thank you.

Let us say that one set of weights for producing the 47 percent overall equity or producing the overall ROE formula, let's say one set of such weights for averaging out to get to the number we need was, say, the share of total generation capacity, and did not produce the established values.

Would you agree that it would be necessary to adopt a different set of weights?  Perhaps, as an example, the share of total production over some period of time, in order to conform with the Board's requirements?

MS. McSHANE:  I guess I am having a problem with your reference to overall production.

It seems to me that the way we should be looking at it is in terms of assets, because we're financing assets.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Fine.

MS. McSHANE:  So I am not sure why you would even have reference to weights as per production.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Well, let's take your example, then.  Let's say we used assets, share of assets as the appropriate weighting scheme, and it did not produce the 47 percent overall equity ratio.  Or it did not produce the overall equity ROE produced by the Board's formula.  So we would have to move to a different weighting scheme.

[Witness panel confers.]

MS. McSHANE:  I guess, again, the way I look at it is the ultimate objective is to have 47 percent common equity and 9.85 percent ROE.

So when you talk about weighting schemes, I don't know that you would necessarily have to have a different weighting scheme.

You might end up assigning slightly different costs of capital to the two different businesses, so that you end up at the end of the day with the dollars of return that are required to have 9.85 ROE and 47 percent equity.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  I think you are making my question more complicated than it is.

We have agreed in our questions here there could be different weighted average cost of capital for OPG nuclear and regulated hydro, subject only to the Board's required formula for the overall ROE and the overall equity ratio of 47 percent.

So if we had separate weighted average costs of capital for nuclear and hydro, we would somehow have to combine them in such a way as to produce the overall ROE, which you estimate at 9.8, and the 47.

So we would have to weight them in some way.  I think Professors Roberts and Kryzanowski did this in their report, and they used a weighting scheme which I have now forgotten, but perhaps it was share of assets or perhaps it was share of production or perhaps it was share of total generation.

Do you agree that such a weighting scheme is needed?

MS. McSHANE:  No.  I don't think that you have to have a weighting scheme in that sense.

I mean, I think you can -- if you were -- I mean, the fact of the matter is that in any event, there is a fair amount of uncertainty in the overall cost of capital.  I don't think that you have to necessarily do a different weighting.

You can adjust the overall -- the different costs of capital, so that you still end up with 47 percent.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  And how would that adjustment be done?

MS. McSHANE:  Simply by figuring out what the overall cost of capital needs to be for the individual operations, so that it ends up at 47 percent common equity.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  All right.  So maybe we're saying the same thing.

We agree, though, that somehow, if we had separated weighted average costs of capital for nuclear and regulated hydro, they would have to be combined in a certain way to be consistent with the Board's requirements?

MS. McSHANE:  They would either have to be combined in a certain way, or they would have to, from the outset, be established at a certain level so that they ended up at 47 percent common equity.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  But you and I have already agreed that there could be separate weighted average costs of capital for nuclear and regulated hydro?

MS. McSHANE:  Certainly there can be.  But you can --


DR. SCHWARTZ:  All right.

MS. McSHANE:  -- but you can, if that is the way you believe that you have to end up, you can set the initial ratios for the two technologies, such that you end up with 47 percent.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.  That's fine.

So is it your understanding, then, that there may be different ways, either different weighting schemes, as I have used the expression, or different approaches, as you have outlined them, that may be equally relevant, some of which produce the desired outcome and others do not?

MS. McSHANE:  Well, certainly there would be some that would produce the incorrect outcome.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  That's right, even if they were as relevant as the ones that did.

MS. McSHANE:  I guess I'm not sure what you mean by "relevant".

DR. SCHWARTZ:  For example, we mentioned a few; share of assets, share of total generation capacity, share of total production.  These are all different ways of looking at these things, to get --


MS. McSHANE:  Those are different weighting schemes.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Yes.  Okay.

MS. McSHANE:  And some of them would be totally inappropriate.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.  Some of them would be inappropriate, and others might be relevant, and some, among the ones that are relevant, some might produce the desired outcome and others might not?

MS. McSHANE:  Well, yes.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  You would think so.

MS. McSHANE:  But at the end of the day, if the Board were to insist on having technology-specific capital structures, then it would need to come up with an approach that on the one hand made sure that the individual hydroelectric and nuclear operations costs of capital were consistent with the fair return standard and, at the same time, came up with an overall return for the prescribed assets that was consistent with the finding in EB-2007-0905 that there should be a 47 percent common equity ratio overall.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Thank you.

In chapter 9 of your report, you summarize the results of five different quantitative technologies, and I quote:
"...for isolating the cost of capital for OPG's hydroelectric and nuclear generation operations."

That is at page 6 of your report.  Are four of these empirical tests designed to identify differences in beta as between hydro and nuclear?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes, they were.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  And if these tests had identified differences in beta to your satisfaction, would you have concluded that investors' required rates of return on equity on hydro and nuclear also differed?

MS. McSHANE:  It depends on what the capital structures underlying the companies were that were used to derive the test.

So you have to look at both capital structure and the return on equity.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Well, you did a study.  You did several studies.  And if they had shown differences in beta, would you have -- and recognizing in your sample there were, I think, different capital structures, so you did kind of an averaging.  That is my understanding.

So all I'm saying is if you had found in your statistical analysis differences in beta, would you have concluded that the cost of equity, say, on hydro and nuclear are also different?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.  But then I would have had to look at the capital structures underpinning the samples to determine whether that was a financial risk issue or a business risk issue.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Yes, okay.

And if these empirical tests had shown, to your satisfaction, those differences in beta between hydro and nuclear, would your report's conclusions have changed in any particularly significant way?

MS. McSHANE:  If I could have established to my satisfaction, with a sufficient degree of rigour, the difference between nuclear and hydroelectric cost of capital, then I may have recommended specific capital structures for the two.  But the analysis that I conducted did not reveal, on a robust basis, differences in the cost of capital.

Simply insignificant -- or not an adequate amount of data to make that distinction.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  And supposing that these tests had identified differences to your satisfaction in beta and, hence, the required rate-of-return, how could we -- what would you -- we would be aggregating those two numbers into the Board's formula number in a different way than we might otherwise aggregate them, because, in the end, we have to produce whatever the Board's formula is?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.  You would have had to have determined how much of the difference between -- if you came up with sort of overall differences between hydroelectric and nuclear cost of capital, you would have to estimate how much of the difference was because of differences in capital structure between the samples that you were using.

So let's just -- if we could just maybe take a real simple example, in a perfect world, I might have had two samples of nuclear utilities and one -- and a sample of hydroelectric utilities.  And you would look at their overall cost of capital.  And let's say the beta of the nuclear sample was higher than the beta of the hydroelectric sample.

So the initial reaction is, well, then the overall -- the cost of equity for the nuclear sample is higher than the hydroelectric sample.  So then you would have to look and see what the capital structures of the two samples were.

So let's just say, hypothetically, the capital structures of the two samples were the same, that both the hydroelectric utilities and the nuclear utilities were financing their operations with the same capital structure.

Well, then that would lead you to the conclusion that the difference in the beta between the two samples was a function of business risk.

And, you know, some -- so the difference in business risk, then, you would say you could translate into a difference in capital structure for OPG, because this Board has determined that any differences in business risk would be reflected in capital structure, not in ROE; that the ROE would be the same, the benchmark utility ROE.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Yes.  Thank you.

In light of counsel's previous comment, I would like to just take a second to rephrase this question.

I am going to try to restate what you said on page 47 of your report about the capital asset pricing model, because I think we largely agree, perhaps entirely agree.

You make the important observation that the CAPM holds that expected returns do not compensate -- sorry, this is my slight rewording of what you said, that the CAPM holds that expected returns do not compensate investors for bearing diversifiable risks, such as production and operating risks, and then on page 48 you include as diversifiable, quote/unquote, "system security risks" and, quote/unquote, "changes in government regulation specific to an industry", unquote.

Expected returns, as I understand what you have said, compensate investors only for bearing non-diversifiable risks related to the capital to capital market and economy-wide events as measured, in principle at least, by beta.

Now, here I am just trying to perhaps recapture your position with some very, very slight wording differences, but, overall, am I correct that is how you view the CAPM?

MS. McSHANE:  I think that is a fair summary.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Thank you.  There are some minor differences in wording, but I think we both agree on that.

Now, if the growth in the economy were to slow unexpectedly and thereby reduce the demand for electricity, would that be a non-diversifiable event in the CAPM framework, the economic -- the unexpected economic slowdown?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.  Unexpected economic slowdown generally would be a non-diversifiable risk.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Yes, yes.  And on page 26, you state, and here I will just quote, that:
"The risk that OPG’s regulated baseload facilities will not be dispatched is higher for the hydroelectric operations, as the nuclear production facilities are not designed to ramp up and down, while hydroelectric production can be curtailed by spilling water at the generation facilities."

End of quote.  In this respect, and in this respect alone, which of OPG's production businesses is more exposed to unexpected changes in economic activity, regulated hydro or nuclear?

MS. McSHANE:  I believe this question was already asked in an interrogatory, and it was Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 25.

The question was asked specifically, "Does this" -- well, let me start at the beginning:
The Prefiled Evidence indicates that surplus baseload generation ('SBG') increased in 2009 due to reduced electricity demand resulting from depressed economic conditions and relatively moderate temperatures as well as an increase in electricity supply."

And then it asks:
"Does this indicate that, from a financial perspective, OPG's regulated hydro business is more exposed to market risk than nuclear...?"

And the answer was:
"If the term 'market risk' is intended to refer to capital market risk, then yes, regulated hydroelectric generation is more exposed to market (systematic) risk than nuclear generation on this specific element of market risk."

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Thank you.  And the reason I asked this is because I wasn't entirely sure of the response to the interrogatory.

Accordingly, which business, having regard to this one unexpected -- this one risk, the unexpected change in the economic activity -- which business would be expected to have the higher beta?

MS. McSHANE:  On that element alone --


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Yes, on that element alone.

MS. McSHANE:  And I believe that is what the answer basically said, that it would have higher systematic -- that hydroelectric would be of higher systematic risk on that element.

But it also referred, that information request or interrogatory also referred to Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 26, which outlined a number of factors which would lead to a higher beta on nuclear operations.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Well, and then indeed, that was my next question.  So let me summarize what I think you have said.  If -- in response to my question here today.

If we are trying to assess differences in beta between regulated hydro and nuclear, we might well expect nuclear, the nuclear beta to be higher than the hydro beta, in respect of the impact, you know, which business would be more or less influenced by the downturn.  And we agree, I think, that that would be, the higher beta would be -- or the higher influence on beta would be to the hydro.

Now, and just for completeness, then, in your view, are there other respects or other factors that, taken in aggregate, might lead to the conclusion that the betas for nuclear and for hydro are or are not of similar magnitude?

MS. McSHANE:  That's why I referred you to the response to Energy Probe Interrogatory No. 26, where the question was asked:

"If beta is a measure of non-diversifiable exposure to market risk, would it not be reasonable a priori that the beta of nuclear would be lower than the beta of hydro?"

And the answer to that question was -- I will start in the middle of it and not read the whole thing, but it says:

"Ms. McShane would not expect the beta for nuclear generation to be lower than the beta of hydroelectric generation.  Factors that would point to a higher beta for nuclear generation than for hydroelectric generation include:  1, the findings and other instrumental variables analysis that earnings variability is a significant..."

Explanator, it should say.  It says "explanatory" --

"...of market betas."
Then there was a reference back to pages in the report.
"The higher operating leverage of nuclear generation, which results in higher sensitivity of the earnings to unanticipated changes in costs and revenues, the higher risks of unanticipated costs of repair, which would result in higher sensitivity to inflation or changes in inflation, and the uncertainty of costs of nuclear construction, which also would result in higher sensitivity to inflation and interest rates, higher decommissioning costs of nuclear generation, which are sensitive to inflation,
and the sensitivity of the returns on decommissioning trust to market returns."

So all of those factors have some relationship to market or non-diversifiable risks.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  And it is therefore your conclusion, based on that discussion, that on balance, the beta for nuclear would be higher or lower than the beta for hydro?

MS. McSHANE:  On balance, a priori, I would expect the beta of nuclear generation to be higher than hydroelectric.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.  Thank you.  On page 48 of your report, and here I will just quote, you state, and I quote:

"In the case of OPG, a key factor that distinguishes the regulated nuclear operations from the regulated hydroelectric is operating risk, which in principle should be diversifiable.  Consequently, the ability of methodologies to derive from CAPM to capture the difference in risk between the two technologies is, a priori, questionable."

So in this paragraph, you are suggesting that differences in operating risk distinguish regulated nuclear from regulated hydro from nuclear?

MS. McSHANE:  You mean in the sense that the --


DR. SCHWARTZ:  And you say that that risk, operating risk, should be diversifiable?

MS. McSHANE:  To the extent that they are specific to the operations themselves, and not -- and do not have any connection to the broader economic factors.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Yes, okay.  Thank you.  Now, on page 49, your report provides other criticisms of the capital asset pricing model.  And therefore I ask, do you believe that CAPM is a valid theory of the relationship between expected returns and risk in efficient capital markets, and that it is useful in cost of equity and cost of capital discussions for regulated companies and divisions thereof?

MS. McSHANE:  I guess it is really the only model that is available that really allows one to differentiate on the basis of risk, but I mean, every model has its problems.

I believe that the capital asset pricing model, appropriately estimated, is a relevant input to the determination of the cost of equity and a fair return.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Thank you.  On page 9 of your report, you state, and I will just quote it briefly:

"The qualitative assessment of the relative business risks of the hydroelectric and nuclear operations support the conclusion that the nuclear operations face materially higher business risks than the hydroelectric operations."

End of quote.

MS. McSHANE:  Sorry, the question is?

DR. SCHWARTZ:  I am getting to it.

MS. McSHANE:  Oh, sorry.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  I was just being interrupted by my manager here.

If a capital asset pricing model can be validly used for investigating possible differences in the equity cost, would you agree that possible differences in capital structure might be justified by consideration of those risks that are diversifiable, including differences in regulation and systemic risk, or system risk, as I believe you called it?

MS. McSHANE:  Sorry, what was the reference to regulation?

DR. SCHWARTZ:  You have in your report -- as I cited in the previous question -- you indicated that differences in regulation would be diversifiable.  And therefore, I take it your implication was it would not be relevant in beta.  In efficient capital markets, they would not be reflected in the beta.

But here, I guess, I'm saying that if we can use CAPM for this investigation, if you will, of non-diversifiable risks, capital structure might be justified by considering those risks that are, in fact, diversifiable, including differences in regulation and system risk.

MS. McSHANE:  Does the question simply boil down to whether or not differences in risk can be -- if there are differences in business risk, that there should be differences in capital structure?

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Assuming that we are using the CAPM validly to measure the other risks, the risks that are non-diversifiable.  I think your answer is yes --


MS. McSHANE:  I guess I am not sure what the implication is of whether you have used the capital asset pricing model to try to distinguish between them.

I mean, it seems to me that it is a matter of principle that if you've got an ROE that is intended to be applicable across a range of companies, or utilities -- however it's been estimated in the first instance -- that differences in business risk get reflected in the capital structure.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.  Would you agree that business risk could, in principle at least, be isolated by estimating the unlevered betas?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.

MS. McSHANE:  In that is sort of what I was trying to get across when I said that you have to look at both the capital structure and the cost of equity.  You can't look at one without the other, that an unlevered beta, in principle, takes out the financial risk component of the levered or investment beta, and gives you the beta that would be applicable if a company was financed 100 percent equity.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Thank you.  On page 2 and 3 of your report, you state in part, and I will just -- it's a brief quote.
"If proxy firms are to be used in the estimation of capital structures, both their capital structures and associated costs of equity must be taken into account.  Higher business risk is not always reflected in the capital structure."


For greater certainty, do you mean in this sentence, the last sentence, that it is the regulators who do not always reflect higher business risk in the capital structure?

MS. McSHANE:  Well, that is part of it, but also when you are looking at market data, the capital structure that actually is maintained by the corporate entity whose market data you are looking at may be different from the capital structure that the regulator has allowed for, you know, some part of the business.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Yes.  So if we were talking about non-regulated companies, the presumption is that higher business risk is reflected in the capital structure?

MS. McSHANE:  No, I wouldn't agree with that.  Well, sorry.  Back up.

I would say that, in general, if you looked at different industries, that you would probably see that companies that have higher business risk would tend to use less leverage than companies with lower business risk.  The companies with lower business risk have more debt capacity.

Having said that, when you look at the range of companies -- utilities and companies with utility operations, you still see a fairly wide range of capital structures.

I would point out, for example, that when I looked at the different samples of utility companies for this analysis -- and I split them into groups of wires companies, which are the lowest risk utility companies, and then I had a sample of what I call high nuclear companies.  Those are companies that had the highest percentage of nuclear operations of all of the 50-odd, 60 companies that I had in -- as the universe, the high nuclear companies had lower common equity ratios than the wires companies.

And I think if we go back and consider what information we had in front of us in the last proceeding, when there was a comparison at that time of regulated companies and merchant generators, that it was very clear that the merchant generators, although they're clearly of higher risk than the utilities, had materially more leverage than the utilities themselves, which simply points to the need to take account of both capital structure and cost of equity.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Thank you.  And perhaps following up on that last point, Professors Roberts and Kryzanowski refer to the study by Sanyal and Bulan, although they misstate the conclusion thereof, which is that after deregulation, U.S. electric utilities adopted more conservative - that is, higher equity capital structures - and they corrected their statement at the conclusion in an interrogatory.

So, in your view, does this research provide any guidance to the questions under consideration here?

MR. ALEXANDER:  Madam Chair, just for clarification, in light of the interrogatory, there was some revisions that were filed to Dr. Kryzanowski's and Dr. Roberts' evidence, and this was a typographical error that was corrected, just so that is clear on the record.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thanks.  Yes, we were aware of that.

MS. McSHANE:  As a general proposition --


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Is there anything we can learn from that study that is relevant to what we're trying to do today?

MS. McSHANE:  I did not read the study.  I looked at the conclusions.

The way I understand the conclusions are is that when there is -- when the utilities were -- or part of their business was deregulated, and the industry was restructured, that the analysis of the authors concluded that the increasing business risk was accompanied by a decrease in the amount of leverage that the companies used.

So if you are asking me, Does the general proposition that an increase in business -- or higher business risk should be, in principle, associated with lower leverage, then, yes.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.  In your view, if there were stand-alone hydro and nuclear utilities -- electric utilities in the United States with unregulated capital structures, should the Board -- I say adopt, but maybe give weight to -- those equity structures if it adopts separate capital structures for OPG?

MS. McSHANE:  I'm sorry, I didn't follow that question.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Well, that's because I changed my wording.

In your view, if there were two stand-alone -- sorry, if there were stand-alone hydro and nuclear utilities in the U.S. with unregulated capital structures, should the Board give weight to those observed equity capital structures if it adopts separate capital structures for OPG?

MS. McSHANE:  Is your point that capital structures are unregulated?

DR. SCHWARTZ:  That appears to be what the Sanyal and Bulan article conclude, that after deregulation, the U.S. electric companies adopt a move to more conservative capital structures.

So I am suggesting -- and because you have used samples from the United States, let us presume that perhaps there were stand-alone hydro and nuclear utilities with similarly unregulated capital structures.  Should the Board give weight to those observed capital structures in determining separate capital structures for OPG, or would it be not relevant?

MS. McSHANE:  So what you're saying is there are stand-alone utilities -- there are stand -- if there were stand-alone companies --


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Hmm-hmm.

MS. McSHANE:  -- not utilities?

DR. SCHWARTZ:  No.  I said hydro and nuclear utilities.

MS. McSHANE:  Well, okay.  But it seems to me there is a basic disconnect in your question, because utility, by my understanding, is an entity that is regulated.

So I am not sure -- when you say a stand-alone hydroelectric utility with an unregulated capital structure, I don't understand.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  My reference here is to the study by Sanyal and Bulan that indicated that after deregulation, U.S. electric utilities adopted more conservative capital structures.  So obviously they had some freedom to reset their capital structure, with deregulation.

MS. McSHANE:  If I could just say that if you are operating in a combination of regulated and unregulated operations, then you would probably have, you know, a capital structure that is allowed by your regulator for your regulated operations, and that may or may not be the same as your overall capital structure.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Thank you.  Now, on page 20 --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, Dr. Schwartz.  I don't know if there is a logical break somewhere in your questioning for us to schedule the morning break, because we normally take it around now.  Would now be --


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Fine with me, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  We will break for 30 minutes in order to consider the question related to undertaking J10.11, so we will be back in 30 minutes.

--- Recess taken at 10:40 a.m.


--- On resuming at 11:19 a.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.
DECISION:


MS. CHAPLIN:  The Board has considered the matter of Undertaking J10.11, and our conclusion is that it is important for the Board to understand the impacts of the various possible alternatives, and therefore we will still require the undertaking.

In light of what -- in that we are trying to understand the various possible alternatives, we are going to add a fourth scenario.  And this is a scenario designed to reflect the continued operation of Pickering B and the continued operation of Pickering A, and no refurbishment of Darlington.  So we believe that that would be end-of-life of 2020 for Pickering A and Pickering B, and end of life of Darlington of 2019.

So we understand that OPG can provide the answer to this undertaking on the 19th of November.  And on that basis, since we expect that these will be -- since we are seeking revenue requirement numbers, we will hold the morning of November 23rd available for questioning on that undertaking answer.  However, it would not be our expectation that that would go into detail on matters that have already been covered in testimony.

With that, we would invite the applicant to file their argument-in-chief on the same date, the 19th.  However, if they wish to submit it in advance, that is acceptable, but we would expect it no later than the 19th.  And we will -- if we have the day on the 23rd.  And then intervenor argument would be due on the 3rd of December.  And we would set the deadline for reply argument on the 16th, which is the Thursday, the 16th of December.

So subject to any questions --


MR. SMITH:  Not a question, Madam Chair, the issue I would like to identify -- and I don't know the answer, but perhaps Mr. Mauti can help me out.

I am not sure that the premise of the fourth scenario is correct, in that with the fourth scenario it will also be able to be delivered on the 19th.

I would ask him to just comment on that, because I just don't know the answer to that.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Certainly.

MR. MAUTI:  We reviewed the requirements to get the originally requested three scenarios, and had a -- a timeline to get the required information, the analysis, the quality control checks, the vetting done to the level of quality we need.  To add a fourth scenario, I would have to go back to confirm what additional requirements.

I know it is kind of subsets of two different sort of scenarios there, but I would have to go back to evaluate whether that would add any time to the November 19th targeted day for the filing.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Our expectation is that it wouldn't, since it is part of scenario 1 and part of scenario 2.  So it, as you say, it is a combination.

MR. MAUTI:  It is a combination, and oftentimes, though, it is the estimation of the volumes and the impacts that they have between the various waste programs, sometimes they aren't quite as simple as a little cut and paste in one of another and then the answer comes out as a third.  We would have to look at the logic flow for how the fuel would flow, the interrelationship between operations, dry-fuel storage, disposal, transportation and whatnot.

So it isn't quite as plug-and-play sort of type of calculation that we do.  So I would need just some time during the day, perhaps, today to --


MS. CHAPLIN:  All right.  Perhaps you can get back to us after lunch.

MR. SMITH:  We will let you know today.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  All right.  Dr. Schwartz, are you ready to continue?

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please go ahead.
Continued Cross-Examination by Dr. Schwartz:


DR. SCHWARTZ:  May I suggest, just to facilitate the question, that we look at page 20 of Ms. McShane's report, not because I am going to spend a lot of time with it.  Maybe that is the best way to proceed.  Page 20?

MS. McSHANE:  I have page 20.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Thank you.  It begins:  "The objective of the analysis for this report..."  And perhaps I won't read all of it, but I am interested in the last couple of sentences, which read:

"To achieve this objective, differences in equity costs among proxy companies must be quantitatively translated into differences in common equity ratios.  In this context, the translation will proceed on the premise that the cost of capital is constant across the relevant range of capital structures."

In this, I guess, this final sentence, Ms. McShane, when you refer to the "cost of capital" do you mean the overall cost of capital, which we have agreed is a weighted average cost of capital?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Thank you.  You speak of a translation, and I wonder if you could elaborate on that, that term.

How has the translation affected the empirical analysis that you undertook?

MS. McSHANE:  Well, there never was any translation, because I never got to the point where I could establish with any degree of rigour differences in the cost of capital that would have led to the next step of taking account of differences in the overall cost of capital through adjustments to the equity ratio.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Well, you say here:

"In this context, the translation will proceed on the premise that the cost of capital is constant across the relevant range of capital structures."

So if you didn't actually do what might have been a calculation, is it an assumption in the results that you have reported?

MS. McSHANE:  It is an assumption that sets what I would have done had I gotten to that point.

I think there was, actually, an information request on this.  Maybe if you give me a second, I will see if I can pull it up.

There was a question from Pollution Probe, Interrogatory No. 18, and the interrogatory started:

"The following premise is invoked here in Ms. McShane's report."

It says:

"To the extent required by the analysis, the conversion of differences in the cost of equity among proxy samples into capital structure equivalents will be based on the premise that the overall cost of capital is constant across the relevant range of capital structures."

Then the question was asked -- sorry, the question was asked:

"Please have Ms. McShane specify the beginning and ending equity thicknesses for the relevant range."

In part (a), and as part of the response to part (a), I said -- and this is on page 2 of 2 of schedule 18:

"It bears noting that although Ms. McShane indicated in the report that the translation of cost of equity differences would be translated into capital structure differences, on the premise that the cost of capital is constant across the relevant range of capital structures, this assumption was never applied.  The results of the various tests conducted did not yield results that were sufficiently robust to allow the translation of cost of equity differences among proxy firms into capital structure differences."

DR. SCHWARTZ:  All right.  Well, thank you.  Perhaps I see the issue now more clearly than I saw it when I read the response to the interrogatory.

Nevertheless, I take it, then, that your view is that if we were actually going to do it, do this process, we would have to do a translation of the type that you referred --


MS. McSHANE:  Well, you would certainly have to -- if you have to take account of both cost of equity and capital structure, and what you must do is to -- is to end up with different capital structures for hydroelectric and nuclear operations, while maintaining the same ROE for the two, then yes, to the extent that you are using comparable -- or samples of companies to determine the differential, you would have to make that translation.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Thank you.  On page 21 of your report, you describe -- you discuss the stand-alone principle, and it begins, page 21 -- I believe it is page 21.  Yes.  Now, maybe just we will go to the final sentence, which is:
"It is important to recognize that the application of a 'pure' stand-alone approach for rate setting purposes will result in a higher cost of capital than one which reflects the impacts of diversification."


That is the second paragraph on page 21.  Now, you also state, and I believe it is also on page 21, that:
"Consistent with the stand-alone principle, if technology-specific capital structures are to be considered, each should contribute its fair share toward the maintenance of the creditworthiness of the entity which raises capital on their behalf."


Sorry, that is page 22, not page 21.  And at footnote 8 at the bottom of page 22, you state:
"A rigid application of the stand-alone and creditworthiness/ financial integrity principles would impute to individual operations both the actual cost of debt that that each would be able to obtain on its own and the capital structure that would be required by a potential lender to provide debt capital in the absence of its affiliation with the entity which actually raises the capital on its behalf."


All of which to me makes perfect sense.  If the Board decides to adopt separate capital structures for OPG's nuclear and regulated hydro cost of capital, which of these statements of the stand-alone principle should it follow if - if - the issue is the efficient allocation of capital?

MS. McSHANE:  So are you asking me whether or not -- if the Board decided to apply what I call the rigid application, whether it should have different costs of debt for the two operations?

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.

MS. McSHANE:  No.  Was that what you wanted to ask me?

DR. SCHWARTZ:  In substance, yes.

MS. McSHANE:  Okay.  Well, I mean, it's sort of a difficult question, because to some extent the -- the cost of debt that is used for the existing debt in OPG's case is equal to the cost at the corporate level.

So one could make an argument that each of the technologies should incur a separate cost of debt, if the Board were going to go to technology-specific capital structures, but that is a complicated exercise, because we have existing debt and we don't have existing debt for separate technology-specific entities.  You have one cost of debt.

So you would have to sort of go back and say, well, you know, impute a different historic cost of debt for the two?  I mean, I know that there is one regulator in Canada who thought about doing that, but, I mean, it's hardly -- I would say the benefits -- or the costs outweigh the benefits.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Well, as I said, the reference here is, as I said, what version of the stand-alone principle should be used, if the notion is the efficient allocation of capital?  And here I am asking you, in your position as an expert, advising the Board in that respect.

MS. McSHANE:  I think, to some extent, there are principles that are in their purest form supported by economic theory, and then there is practicality and the extent to which maintaining those higher principles is, you know, outweighed by the cost.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Thank you.  Now, on the subject of absolute and relative business risk, is it accurate to state that your report discusses business risk from three perspectives: (a) whether nuclear is or is not riskier than hydro in some absolute sense; (b) whether the absolute risks of nuclear and hydro have increased since the Board's decision in 2007-0905; and (c) whether the risk of nuclear, relative to hydro, has or has not increased since the Board's decision?

Are these three perspectives the ones that you deal with in your report?

MS. McSHANE:  So can we go through this?  The first one was:  Have the absolute risks of each of them increased since the Board's decision?

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Well...

MS. McSHANE:  That was (a)?

DR. SCHWARTZ:  That is one of the three that I believe you are addressing in your report, yes.

MS. McSHANE:  I was just going to go through them one by one to make sure I understood what the three aspects were you were asking me about.  The first one was:  Have the absolute risks of each one increased since the Board's decision?

DR. SCHWARTZ:  That's one of them, yes.

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Have you also addressed or considered it worth -- do you consider it worth addressing the question whether nuclear is or is not riskier than hydro in some absolute sense?

MS. McSHANE:  Well, yes, and that was actually addressed in the last proceeding, and the conclusion was that nuclear was riskier.

So the real focus in this proceeding was to determine whether the absolute risks of either of them had increased and whether the relative risks had changed as a result.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Yes.  I just wanted to distinguish what I took to be three different perspectives on business risk.

MS. McSHANE:  What I was trying to say is the one with respect to whether nuclear was riskier than hydroelectric was one that was essentially dealt with in the last proceeding, and started from the proposition that hydroelectric was less risky than nuclear.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.  And, therefore, would it be accurate to state that the principal conclusion on these three dimensions that you have dealt with, in greater or lesser extent in this report, the really important conclusion is that the relative risk of nuclear has -- the relative risk of nuclear has increased since the Board's decision?  Actually, I don't have a page number, but I believe that is -- that was your conclusion.

MS. McSHANE:  Yes.  There is a conclusion on page 34 of the report, which says:
"With respect to changes in relative risk that result from the Decision, the difference in the business risk profiles is greater than was anticipated in EB-2007-0905, largely due to the Board's decision not to adopt the proposed fixed payment for the nuclear operations and to vary the proposed ratemaking treatment of the nuclear liabilities."


DR. SCHWARTZ:  Yes, thank you.  And so if it is the case that the relative -- if nuclear has increased in risk relative to hydro since the Board's decision, and taking into account your overall conclusion that you really haven't been able to find empirical differences with acceptable rigour, nevertheless wouldn't that conclusion suggest that nuclear should have a higher equity ratio than the 47 percent adopted in the Board's decision?

MS. McSHANE:  I would say that, all other things equal, that is true.

The question is, to my mind:  Can you determine, with any degree of robustness or rigour, what the difference should be between the two?

Given that you are constrained by the 47 percent, I mean, that's got to be the outcome of the overall capital structure, given that you, as a regulator, have an absolute obligation to set a fair return, and the fair-return standard requires that you establish returns that are commensurate with the returns available on comparable risk investments; which means you are limited, in my opinion, to the level of common equity ratio that you can establish for the hydroelectric operations, as I discussed yesterday –- no, it wasn't yesterday, it was Tuesday -- my view would be that the common equity ratio of hydroelectric shouldn't be any lower than 45 percent.  That you are limited, in terms of what you can do as far as higher common equity ratio on nuclear, and still achieve all of the objectives.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Thank you.  I have two more questions.  One, Ms. McShane, for you, and then one for the panel.

And my question to you, Ms. McShane, the answer may well be no, but let me ask you.

The Board may well follow your suggested approach, but if it adopts technology-specific capital structures, have you considered what would be different?

MS. McSHANE:  Sorry, have I considered what would be different?

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Well, if the Board makes a decision in this regard, if it adopts separate capital structures, something is going to change.  And presumably, that something would affect OPG and how it does certain things.

MS. McSHANE:  Oh, you're talking about in -- just as a general proposition, what would change?

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Yes.

MS. McSHANE:  Not specifics, just generally?

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Whatever you think is important.  What would be different?

MS. McSHANE:  It would have different common equity ratios for the nuclear and hydroelectric operations.  I don't know that there would be anything else that would be different.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  All right.  Then the question more specifically is have you -- and Because perhaps it wasn't part of your mandate -- but the question was have you considered what would be different?  If they do adopt separate equity ratios, for example, presumably, something is going to happen that would be different than if they had not done that.

Have you considered what those things might be?  As I said, the answer may be no, because it wasn't part of your mandate.  I'm sorry --


MS. McSHANE:  I guess the answer is I would have thought the only major things that would have changed are you have different capital structures for the two operations.  But I don't know beyond that whether there's anything of great materiality that would change.

But I guess the bottom line is I didn't think about it beyond that.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Thank you.  Fair enough.

Then my final question, Madam Chair, would be to the panel.  And there are a couple of separate questions.  Some of the questions, it might help if I just went through the first question before, which has sub-questions, so that the panel won't be surprised.

If the Board decides to adopt separate capital structures, what would OPG likely do in consequence?

For example, would it undertake the appropriate analyses to determine the corresponding weighted average cost of capital for nuclear and regulated hydro?

Two, would it adopt separate hurdle rates for investments in nuclear and regulated hydro, based on those analyses?

Three, would it change its capital expenditure evaluation procedures to include risk considerations in the discount rate, and exclude risk considerations in the cash flows?

Four, would it drop its use of Monte Carlo simulation as a method of risk assessment?

And five, would it change its LUEC methodology in any way?

So the general question is:  What would OPG likely do if the Board adopted separate capital structure?

MR. PUGH:  We would follow the Board's decision.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  That is my point.  What would it mean?  I mean, so let's say the Board issues a decision and assigns separate, different equity ratios to nuclear and hydro.  What would be the implication, or what would OPG do differently than if the Board had not made that decision?

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. PUGH:  I think where I was going with my original answer is we would listen to the Board's decision, and we would figure out how it would impact those sort of processes.  So we would take it under consideration and we would adjust our operations accordingly.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.  Well, let's go through the individual questions that I posed.

Would OPG undertake the appropriate analyses, then, to determine the corresponding weighted average cost of capital for nuclear and hydro?

MR. PUGH:  I am not too sure I understand the question, but I am going to assume that the analysis would be that in developing our payment amounts order, we would attribute the cost of capital to the different capital structures, and we would flow that through the payments amount calculation, and we would give that back to the Board for approval in the rate order, and they would determine whether we have appropriately reflected their decision.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  All right.  Then, as indicated before, would OPG adopt separate hurdle rates for investments on nuclear and regulated hydro, based on these analyses?

MR. PUGH:  I am not too sure how we would implement that decision, sir.  That is not what I do for a living at my job at OPG.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Well, I am asking to the panel, and the idea of hurdle rates came up yesterday in some way.  We used these cost of capital -- weighted average cost of capitals as a hurdle rate for evaluating investments.

So -- and you have, as I recall -- because it was asked -- a manual, a guideline for capital expenditure decisions, in which it was indicated yesterday the hurdle rate is approximately 7 percent.

MR. PUGH:  Seven percent.  That rate is correct.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  But that is without the distinction between -- of different equity ratios.

So do you think that –- would the Board -- sorry, would OPG continue to evaluate investments in nuclear and in regulated hydro on that basis, whatever the -- if it is 7 percent, maybe it will be eight percent next year or 6 percent.

But would you adopt separate hurdle rates for investment in nuclear and regulated hydro?

MR. PUGH:  I think we would make sure that the risks of particular projects were appropriately factored into our assessment of various projects, and that may include using that discount rate and it may not.  There are various options for how you can proceed, and we would consider those options and we would implement the ones that we thought were most appropriate.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.  I guess another element of this was since your guideline for capital expenditures currently adopts a number -- I believe it is 7 percent -- and then it expresses the risk, project risks in the cash flows -- and we discussed this yesterday -- so would you change that procedure?

MR. PUGH:  I think I just answered.  My previous answer covered that.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  You answered it to a different question.  So your answer would be the same?

MR. PUGH:  It would be the same.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Thank you.  Would it drop its use of Monte Carlo simulation as a method of risk analysis?

MR. PUGH:  Again, that is not what -- not my particular function at OPG, but we would determine how best to implement the Board's decision, and if that involved maintaining some project risks -- I don't know what the cut-off is -- but if it maintained project risks at some level in the assessment, then we would continue to use a Monte Carlo simulation, as the most appropriate way to reflect those project-specific risks.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Accordingly, for the last suggestion I had, OPG then might or might not change its LUEC methodology to reflect the difference in capital structures?

MR. PUGH:  I just don't know.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Okay.  All right.  Would anybody else on the panel have a comment on that?

MR. MAUTI:  No.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  Fine.  Thank you.

All right.  Now, I guess my next question is having regard to the Board's statement in EB-2007-0905 that, quote:

"The overall cost of capital for OPG's prescribed facilities will not be altered by the adoption of separate costs of capital for nuclear and regulated hydro."

Unquote.  Does OPG have any incentive to change the way it evaluates investments in nuclear and regulated hydro, if all of the Board does is simply adopt separate equity ratios for nuclear and hydro?

[Witness panel confers.]

MS. McSHANE:  Could you clarify that question, please?  I am not sure what you are trying to actually get at.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  What am I getting at?

Well, the overall, if you like, theory of this question is:  What will be different if the Board adopts separate capital structures?  This particular question notes that the overall cost of capital will not be changed, thereby, and in that framework does OPG have - and I use the word deliberately - any incentive to change the way it evaluates investments in nuclear and regulated hydro?

And I am focussing here on the word "incentive", not what it would do in compliance, but where does the regulatory system incent OPG to do something differently in the future by adopting separate capital structures for hydro and nuclear?  Perhaps your answer will be that --


MR. PUGH:  Mr. Schwartz, I will tell you -- as I said, this isn't my function, but I will give you my take on it.

We factor in the risks currently into our cash flows.  If we also had to incorporate project-specific risks, we would be able to -- technology-specific risks, we would be able to do that.

We would still go down to the project-specific level, because we feel it is a more rigorous process in order to get the subject matter experts into the room and understand the very specific risks of that project and factor them into our assessment of which projects to do.

So we want to get it right.  So if we go down to the technology-specific level, okay, that is not good enough.  We take it farther and get into the risks of the cash flows.

If we have to incorporate it in some way, we will figure out how to do it.

DR. SCHWARTZ:  I am not sure that is a response to the question, but I am not going to pursue it anymore.

Thank you very much.  I am finished, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Mr. Rubin, I believe you had questions, as well.

MR. RUBIN:  Yes, indeed I do.  And they all pertain to decommissioning and waste disposal, so I think those who have answering can take a little rest, and those who haven't, this is your chance.

We have distributed a package of some excerpts from some documents for this panel, cross-examination materials which I am expecting I may have to go to, and I think it would be appropriate to give it an exhibit number.

MR. MILLAR:  Exhibit K12.1, the Energy Probe compendium.
EXHIBIT NO. K12.1:  ENERGY PROBE COMPENDIUM OF CROSS-EXAMINATION MATERIALS FOR PANEL 8.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  I don't expect to go to it right away.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Rubin:


MR. RUBIN:  Panel, I am going to be asking for some guidance on what I think are high-level questions and fundamental questions, and they are questions I really don't know the answer to.  I am neither a lawyer nor an accountant, and I find the provisions for the funding of decommissioning and waste disposal very lawyer- and accountant-intensive for my understanding, so please bear with me if I ask questions that you knew the answer to a long time ago.  I am hoping I am not the only person in the room that doesn't know these answers.

I see in the evidence a guarantee from the provincial government through the Ontario nuclear fuels agreement.  There are financial guarantees to OPG and to the federal government.  Is that fair?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes, there are guarantees.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  And there is also a requirement on OPG to make payments, and there is -- as I understand it, there is one set of requirements from the federal Nuclear Waste Management Act, and there is another set of requirements in your agreement with the Ontario government.  Is that also fair?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.  There are two different guarantees from different bodies.

MR. RUBIN:  Now, in general, does the Ontario nuclear fuels agreement (sic), does that basically add funding requirements to OPG on top of the federal requirements?  Does it supplement those requirements?

MR. MAUTI:  First off, it is the Ontario Nuclear Funds Agreement, not fuels agreement.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.

MR. MAUTI:  The dollars that are contributed to the used fuel and decommissioning segregated fund as part of ONFA - and I will use the term "ONFA", the Ontario Nuclear Funds Agreement - those are established for the overall liability with -- for all waste management activities that OPG is responsible for.

The other document, I think, or the other area you talked about, I believe, was the federal trust that the Nuclear Fuel Waste Act from 2002 required that funding be set aside specifically for used fuel-related construction and operation activities.

That is a separate trust, a separate federal trust, but it is not a separate pot of money.  The moneys that are part of the Nuclear Fuel Waste Act trust are encapsulated as part of the used fuel segregated fund within ONFA.

So the federal requirement is satisfied by the amounts that are being set aside under the Ontario structure for that segregated fund.  It is not two separate pots of money.

MR. RUBIN:  Right.  Okay.  So they are integrated in your segregated funds?

MR. MAUTI:  Right.  The Ontario used fuel segregated fund has a notional allocation of the moneys that are required as part of the federal trust.

MR. RUBIN:  The federal trust still requires $100 million per year from OPG?

MR. MAUTI:  No.  There was a revision or a proposed funding formula that was submitted to the Minister of Natural Resources Canada.  That was approved, I believe it was, early January of 2009, which sets out a funding formula over which all producers of nuclear fuel waste in Canada contribute amounts into the federal trust.

MR. RUBIN:  Is that new formula in evidence somewhere?

MR. MAUTI:  I don't believe -- I believe the amounts that are to be contributed are.  And if you give me a moment, I might be able to find the reference for you.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.

MR. MAUTI:  Now, there is a description in C2, tab 1, schedule 1, page 8 of 10, section 3.4, dealing with the Nuclear Fuel Waste Act.  It has a description of the federal trust.  The amounts themselves aren't on -- aren't in this schedule.  The actual act itself isn't part of our evidence.

If you need the dollars to be contributed to the trust -- is that the --


MR. RUBIN:  Yes.  That's the bottom line I am looking for.

MR. MAUTI:  -- request?  I can find those numbers.  They may not be specifically in the evidence here, but I can get those for you.

MR. RUBIN:  Can you tell me whether it has gone up or down?

MR. MAUTI:  From the $100 million original?

MR. RUBIN:  Yes.

MR. MAUTI:  I believe it is higher than the $100 million.  That was the initial amount that was, I think, established back in 2002 or 2003, as an initial amount, until a specific funding formula could be derived.

MR. RUBIN:  I wonder if I can just get an undertaking to produce that formula, at least OPG's part of it, or the whole thing, if that is easy.

MR. MAUTI:  Is it the contribution you are looking for or...

MR. RUBIN:  Yes.  The requirement, the revised requirement under the act, for OPG to pay into this fund.

MR. MAUTI:  Do you want it for the test periods, 2011 and 2012?

MR. RUBIN:  That would be handy.  I assume you have the formula for now until it is revised, but whatever --


MR. MAUTI:  I am just confirming.  Is it the contribution amounts or the formula that you are...

MR. RUBIN:  To the extent there is a distinction, I would like both.  Is this hard?

MR. MAUTI:  The contribution amounts, I just need to find them and get them.

The formula itself, I am not sure how detailed -- a document that exists.  It is not a simple linear equation.

MR. RUBIN:  Hmm.  I am in your hands, and I think the Panel is in your hands.  It would be helpful, to me, to know to what extent what you are setting aside is driven by this federal -- the federal requirement, and to what extent it isn't, and, therefore, certainly the quantum, what the formula produces in the test years, and if you have it for future years, why don't you throw that in, too?  It can't hurt.

But for the purpose of this case and this decision, obviously the test years are what we are looking for.

MR. MAUTI:  I can tell you that the balance of the ONFA segregated fund for used fuel, there is substantially more in there than the federal trust requirement.  So as each year progresses we, in effect, just notionally allocate an additional amount into the federal trust.  So it doesn't necessarily drive contribution requirements.

MR. RUBIN:  Yes.  I think I already knew that or assumed that.  But still, can you give us the numbers?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.  They should be available, yes.

MR. SMITH:  We can make available the numbers.  I don't see any particular utility in the formula, per se, but we will provide the numbers.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  That should do it.

MR. MILLAR:  J12.2.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Just to be clear, what we will have is the federal contribution amounts for the test period.  Thanks.
UNDERTAKING NO. J12.2:  to PROVIDE FEDERAL CONTRIBUTION AMOUNTS FOR TEST PERIOD.

MR. RUBIN:  Let me back out to a fundamental question, coming from all of these interlocking responsibilities and guarantees back and forth.

And help me tease out this web of guarantees.

What happens if things don't go according to plan?  So who is holding the bag?

Let's take one possibility, which is that the ultimate expenditures, either for decommissioning or for waste fuel disposal, end up costing orders of magnitude more than the current estimates.  Is that your responsibility?  Is
that -- who is on the hook?

MR. MAUTI:  It is rather a broad question.  I am trying to understand which guarantees specifically we're looking at and for which area, because I think the answers are different in different cases.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, help me.

My question is, I think, a simple one.

We have an estimate for a nuclear undertaking that is -- has never been done before, that is -- one estimate I have seen is $24 billion.  It is not small.  It is spread way into the future.

In my experience, these -- the artist's conception and the reality often have a very tenuous relationship to each other.

Whose responsibility is the difference?

MR. MAUTI:  I will look at the breakout of the responsibilities into either the used fuel versus decommissioning, because they are different.

MR. RUBIN:  Please.

MR. MAUTI:  In the evidence, and C2, tab 1, schedule 1, page 6, at the bottom, section 3.2, deals with provincial guarantees for used fuel.  So this is dealing with the expenditures related to the used fuel segregated fund.

There is a guarantee in terms of the total cap and exposure to Ontario Power Generation, related to the first, as it says in the evidence, 2.23 million fuel bundles and the cost associated with the used fuel management of those first 2.23 million bundles.

It's a graduated scale as you get -- in case the costs escalate past a certain level, there is a sharing arrangement with ourselves and the province of Ontario, and once it gets over a certain cap amount, the province of Ontario is fully accountable, again, for the costs associated for the first 2.23 million bundles.

MR. RUBIN:  And that is a responsibility to pay the ultimate cost.  This isn't tied to the federal law directly?  How does this work?

MR. MAUTI:  No.  This is a result of the Ontario Nuclear Funds Agreement itself.  The ONFA agreement between Ontario Power Generation and the province articulates this guarantee on the used fuel portion.  This is a construct of that ONFA agreement.

MR. RUBIN:  Now, I see that they guarantee you a rate of return on the money that is set aside, on the fund?

MR. MAUTI:  Right.  So the first guarantee was based on the ultimate cost of the final program, which is, I thought, the basis of your question.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  Indeed it was.

MR. MAUTI:  All right.  I guess the corollary, or in addition to that, is the guaranteed rate of return, again, on the funds related to those first 2.23 million fuel bundles, they do guarantee a rate of return, again, as stated in the evidence, the same C2, tab 1, schedule 1, now on page 7, talking about the rate of return on the fuel bundles as being 3.25 percent real rate of return, in addition to the long-term Ontario consumer price index.

MR. RUBIN:  So I feel dense here.  Please work with me.

If the costs are higher, then, for the first 2.23 million bundles, you are paying at a specified rate, and any overage in the cost of disposal is borne by, effectively, your shareholder, the Ontario government.  Is that --


MR. MAUTI:  There are ranges between a certain amount.

You know, there is a certain level that is Ontario Power Generation's 100 percent accountability.

If the ultimate costs get above a certain other level, there is a sharing arrangement, and there is a graduated scale where eventually, Ontario Power Generation's gets fully capped and the province of Ontario has the accountability past that certain capped amount.

MR. RUBIN:  And they have, I assume, being a government, they would then have complete freedom to either try to squeeze it out of you or to squeeze it out of taxpayers, or -- I mean, it is up to them.  There is nothing in the agreement that indicates how they would meet such an eventuality; is that fair?

MR. MAUTI:  I wouldn't know what steps they would take at that point, no.

MR. RUBIN:  Right.  But you would under no obligation under ONFA to kick in, if it says:  Here's the cap of what OPG has to kick in?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.

MR. RUBIN:  Obviously.  Okay.  Thank you.  I am concerned about the timeline of discovery here and what it means.  You have indicated that up to some points, even for the first 2.23 million bundles, OPG has some fractional responsibility for bearing higher-than-expected costs.  Did I get that right?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.  I have the values as listed in, again, stated in 1999 dollars, present value '99.

MR. RUBIN:  No.  Excuse me.  I don't think that is going to my -- the question I am asking.

My question is since we're talking about a program that is in its infancy, nobody has marked the X on the ground where the drill bit will go to drill the hole to do the project that we're funding here.

It seems to me conceivable, it seems to me likely, that what you people call the first solid estimate, the release-quality estimate or something like that, for a project, we may be 30 years before a release-quality estimate is coming out on this project; wouldn't you say that is in the ballpark?

MR. MAUTI:  We are significantly earlier than that, yes.

MR. RUBIN:  And the history of these things is that the difference between an estimate that comes out 30 years before the release-quality estimate and one that comes out in the release-quality estimate is often factors -- significant differences.

So what happens if 30 years from now, we get a revision in the estimate, in either direction?

I mean, I guess I am more concerned about overages, but let's talk about an underage.  Let's talk about good news.

Somebody finds a way to sprinkle lime juice on your spent fuel that makes it benign and, you know, there is a magical solution that doesn't cost hardly anything, and we built up this multi-billion-dollar fund at ratepayer expense, and it is suddenly free money.

Is that something OPG would have a claim to?  Or that becomes government money?  Does anybody know?

MR. MAUTI:  I believe there are conditions about what happens with the dollars within a segregated fund.  I am probably not the -- again, I am not a lawyer either, so I wouldn't be in a position to espouse exactly what those conditions would be and what would happen.

MR. RUBIN:  This formula you have told me for sharing risk or sharing costs, would that -- does it blow up when you end up with costs that are lower than estimated?  Does it only work with higher costs?  Does it work in both directions?

MR. MAUTI:  The formula, if you're talking about the formula related to the regular updates to the ONFA, the every-five-year reference plan updates?

MR. RUBIN:  Yes, I believe that's what I'm talking about.

MR. MAUTI:  Right.  So every five years, the calculation of what the liabilities would be for all the waste programs, including used fuel, would be recalculated.  The used fuel portion, it is done effectively by the Nuclear Waste Management Organization, since they have the accountability for used fuel disposal.

We would look at what those liabilities are, the amounts that we have in the segregated fund at the time, and then determine whether we have to alter or adjust the contribution profiles.

MR. RUBIN:  And am I right in interpreting your response to say that if the adjustments come in decades from now, you are not totally sure what would happen?  Or you are not totally sure what would happen in the case of an under -- you know, good news in the cost estimates, or...

MR. MAUTI:  Good news in the cost estimates in relation to the performance of what is happening with the funds themselves would all be taken into account, and depending how many decades into the future as to whether there was prescribed nuclear facilities that we're still dealing with -- some of these obligations may outlast the last production from the last nuclear plant that we have.

There is that possibility, as well, that estimates will change post station lives.

MR. RUBIN:  Is it the intent that these funds -- that everything that needs to be set aside will be set aside by the time each station stops operating, both on the decommissioning and the waste disposal side?

MR. MAUTI:  That is the fundamental premise of the ONFA agreement, is that the funds collected by the end of station life are the funds that are required at that point in time with the knowledge at that point in time to discharge all of the liabilities.

MR. RUBIN:  And do the arrangements under ONFA, for example, do they place any responsibility on OPG or its successor after -- for example, after the last nuclear plant shuts down, if we then get, for example, bad news?  Would you be responsible for topping up the fund to pay for higher expenses?

MR. MAUTI:  In relation to ONFA or in relation to a rate-setting process?

MR. RUBIN:  It seems to me it would affect both.  If ONFA requires you to do it, you would want to get the money out of rates.

MR. MAUTI:  And what happens at the point where we don't have nuclear generation for rate setting, I don't think I am in a position to know how the Board would be able to deal with the situation where you would need additional contributions and there is no nuclear generation to be able to set rates on.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, before we get to how the Board would deal with it, my question is:  Do you have a responsibility to keep adjusting contributions, to keep adjusting the size of these funds, a responsibility that could outlive Darlington or all of your generating stations?

MR. MAUTI:  I think I would have to go back to the agreement and look at that.  I don't know offhand what the -- what that responsibility is, that far into the future.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, part of me is pleased that you don't know the answer, because it means the question perhaps wasn't something that everybody but me knew the answer to.  But on the other hand, it seems, to me, on the list of questions that an intelligent, you know, whatever, kid might ask about how these future arrangements are being funded.  Let me --


MR. MAUTI:  I know they have no relevance to the test period revenue requirement related to the nuclear liabilities.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, I hear you say that.  And I am not sure they don't, because it seems to me that to the extent that my intelligent eighth grader might be expecting ultimate costs to come in higher than today's estimates, he or she might want to be assured that today's generation of ratepayers is, in fact, covering the whole cost and not just today's artist's conception of the costs.

So that would definitely affect collection during the test period, would it not?

[Witness panel confers]


MR. MAUTI:  The basis of the agreement and the ONFA reference plan and the approved reference plan is to revise the cost estimates on a cyclical basis every five years, and to update contributions and flow those impacts through rates at that period of time.

It is an every five-year minimum or minimum five-year cycle that we do this update, and we keep updating to the best knowledge we have at that time and flowing that impact in through rates.

Barring if at some point in the future those costs are continued to be even past the end of nuclear generation cycle, those costs continue to escalate.  Subject to check, I believe Ontario Power Generation would have to live with the requirements that we have, subject to the cap that we have for guarantees, in terms of those ultimate costs, and be obliged to pay for those in some form in the future.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay, thank you.

You told me before you wanted to make sure that your answers pertained to decommissioning, as well as nuclear waste disposal.

MR. MAUTI:  Right.

MR. RUBIN:  Have you done that yet?

MR. MAUTI:  No.  We have been having the discussion on used fuel.  The decommissioning segregated fund for ONFA doesn't have a similar risk guarantee or cap from the province.

So Ontario Power Generation would be fully obligated to pay for full costs of the costs that are eligible as part of the decommissioning fund.  It includes decommissioning, as well as management of low and intermediate level minimum waste in the long term.

MR. RUBIN:  And, again, it is the intention of OPG in its accounting to pay for those activities while the nuclear plants are still running; is that correct?

MR. MAUTI:  That is the approach based on the current estimates and updating of those estimates every five years.

MR. RUBIN:  Understood.

You have you had a consultant help you -- a consultant with three letters in its name.  I forget.  I don't have it right in front of me.  DLG?  TLG.  You had them advise you on estimates for decommissioning; is that right?

MR. MAUTI:  That is correct.  They are well-known industry leaders in terms of understanding and estimating decommissioning-related obligations.

MR. RUBIN:  Does any of you know if any of them have been involved in an actual decommissioning of anything -- anything resembling your stations, either a CANDU or a nuclear reactor as large as one of yours?

MR. MAUTI:  As large as being a -- they have been involved in actual decommissioning exercises of stations in the U.S., I believe, that actually have gone through or are in the midst of going through a decommissioning, actual decommissioning cycle.  They also have been involved, through the review of what we have done for our Pickering 2, 3, preparation for safe storage work, which is the start of an actual decommissioning.

MR. RUBIN:  But no CANDU reactors have been decommissioned yet in the world, have they?

MR. MAUTI:  I believe that's correct.

MR. RUBIN:  And has anybody decommissioned a 550 megawatt reactor or the larger size of a Darlington reactor of any kind?

MR. MAUTI:  There has been actual decommissioning.  I don't know the size of the units that have been decommissioned worldwide.

MR. RUBIN:  Was there more to the decommissioning answer, or...

MR. MAUTI:  If you have a question related to it, I will try to answer it.

MR. RUBIN:  I just wonder if you believe you have answered my first one, and that's fine.

Let me turn to an exhibit that is not in my collection, if I can find it.  It is in your evidence and it is - yes - a table from your C2-1-2, and it is your table number 5.

MR. MAUTI:  Okay, I have that.

MR. RUBIN:  And what is puzzling me is what I see as a disconnect between what you have told me about your responsibility to put money into the segregated funds and what I see on the bottom line as the total revenue requirement impact.

So those numbers, the latter numbers for the test period, for example, and for this year, for that matter, are all significantly lower than $100 million; correct?

MR. MAUTI:  They're approximately $55 million, so, yes, that's lower.

MR. RUBIN:  And you have told me that your obligation to set aside money into the federal portion of your segregated funds alone exceeds $100 million now by an amount that is to be determined.  What am I missing here?

MR. MAUTI:  Sorry, you are looking at the last line, "Total Revenue Requirement", and I agreed with you it was 55 million.  That is only for the Bruce facilities.

MR. RUBIN:  Ah.

MR. MAUTI:  The line item line 6, "Total Revenue Requirement for the Prescribed Facilities", is approximately $145 million.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  So that --


MR. MAUTI:  So the sum of those two would be the revenue requirement related to nuclear liabilities.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  And that number that now you would agree that this is in the ballpark of $200 million a year total?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.

MR. RUBIN:  Revenue impact?

Now, you told me your contributions are more like $400 million total; didn't you say that a few minutes ago?

MR. MAUTI:  The contributions to our used fuel segregated fund, I believe, are in C2-1-1, table -- or C2-1-1, page 2 of 2.  It references table 2.

Those are the required contributions to the used fuel segregated fund from 2008 on.

MR. RUBIN:  C2-1-1?

MR. MAUTI:  Attachment 1, page 2 of 2.

MR. RUBIN:  Oh, attachment 1.

So in the digital file, this would be not in the tables, but it would be in the main document, is that --


MR. MAUTI:  Yes.  It is the in the main body
of C2-1-1.

MR. RUBIN:  C2-1-1, attachment 1.  I'm sorry, the page reference?

MR. MAUTI:  Page 2 of 2.

MR. RUBIN:  Thank you.  I'm there.  Table 2 is where you're steering me; correct?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.  That is our actual contributions to the ONFA funds.

MR. RUBIN:  And when these -- when these drop below the number that you are going to give me for the federal obligation, is the federal obligation dropping by then?

MR. MAUTI:  As I mentioned, the federal obligation is viewed in connection with the total value that is in the segregated fund.

So if -- the balance that is required within the contribution to the federal trust would be taken, earmarked from funds that are already in the used fuel segregated funds.  There is no additional money that has to be contributed to those.

MR. RUBIN:  So you're saying the feds -- you're kind of switching hats here, switching pockets within the fund, not just contributing to the fund according to their schedule?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.  They agree that the moneys that we have within our used fuel segregated fund can be used to satisfy the requirements for the trust.

MR. RUBIN:  I appreciate how --


MR. MAUTI:  I viewed it as carving out a piece into the federal trust.

MR. RUBIN:  I appreciate how obvious that was to you, and I can't tell you how not obvious that was to me.  That is quite helpful in my understanding.

Let me try to restrict this education of Norm Rubin to things that are going to help this Panel make its decisions.

OPG, does OPG spend money researching either decommissioning or waste disposal?

MR. MAUTI:  We spend money to evaluate each of the programs and the response to either CNSC regulations or events.  Classify as research that we investigate the different options and how to execute what we have to, to manage the wastes.

MR. RUBIN:  Are you spending any money to try to find, you know, find the magic lime juice to decrease costs, find smarter, less expensive ways to do these jobs?  Or is that all being done through NWMO?

MR. MAUTI:  Related to the used fuel program, that is NWMO.  It is their mandate to execute that.  They are looking and investigating options, and they, you know, have a technical program as well as a large societal program to start a siting process and whatnot.

MR. RUBIN:  So you spend no money of your own on research in that direction of trying to find less expensive ways, for example, of disposing of nuclear fuel?

MR. MAUTI:  Other than our contribution to the operation of the NWMO, no.

MR. RUBIN:  Do they contract you to do some of their research that they're funded to do?  Do you know?

MR. MAUTI:  I don't believe they do, no.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  On the decommissioning side, it is different because you are responsible without an NWMO.  Are you spending money there, trying to find smarter ways to decommission?

MR. MAUTI:  We produce and submit, as required to the CNSC, preliminary decommissioning plans that lay out our assumptions.

There are people within OPG whose accountability it is to review those programs, and to alter and adjust as needed.

MR. RUBIN:  But it sounds as if -- correct me if I am wrong -- it sounds as if under the various funding agreements, you have no confidence that any savings in these programs would return to your corporation; is that fair?

MR. MAUTI:  I'm not sure I would characterize it that way.

MR. RUBIN:  Well, you have told me before -- when I asked you what happens if the job is done for less than today's estimates, does OPG get the savings -- you have told me you don't know, as I recall.

MR. MAUTI:  Well, no.  In relation to the decommissioning fund, as I said, every five years we re-evaluate.

So savings could either work their way through lower contributions, or we could use any money within the decommissioning fund, as is stated in the evidence, to help fund any requirements to fund the used fuel fund.

So there is an opportunity or potential to use money from the decommissioning fund, with certain restrictions, to help fund the used fuel program.

MR. RUBIN:  Okay.  I will try to digest that.  I believe those are my questions.

Thank you very much, panel.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

I think, Mr. Millar, we will break for lunch now.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  We will rise for one hour.  Thank you.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:27 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:39 p.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.

I believe Board Staff is next, unless there are any preliminary matters.  Mr. Millar, why don't you go ahead?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  And good afternoon, panel.  My name is Michael Millar.  I am counsel for Board Staff.  Before I begin, I do have a short booklet of documents that I have circulated to the company in advance.  Chiefly, it is excerpts from two decisions, or two-and-a-half decisions.

I propose that we call that Exhibit K12.2, the Board Staff book of documents.
EXHIBIT NO. K12.2:  BOARD STAFF BOOK OF DOCUMENTS.

MR. MILLAR:  My first set of questions relate to the cost of capital and, in particular, the ROE as proposed for the two test years.  Just so we have the background straight, I understand that the application includes a return on equity, at least in the short term, of 9.85 percent for 2011; is that correct?

MR. PUGH:  That's what is reflected in the evidence tables, correct, but our proposal is to update that for the:
"When calculating the final payment amounts, OPG proposes that the ROE be updated using data for the month that is three months prior to the effective date of the new payment amounts as required by the Cost of Capital Report."

And that is at C1, tab 1, schedule 1, page 3.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I have that.  Thank you.

MR. PUGH:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  The update you are proposing to use, is that the update that the Board will be issuing shortly for 2011?

MR. PUGH:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And I understand that that should be out very shortly.

MR. PUGH:  I don't know.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I should know, though.

[Laughter]

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe that is a...

MR. PUGH:  Tell me later.

MR. MILLAR:  Scratch that from the record.

Okay, so that is for 2011.  Now, for 2012, I understand you are proposing a different number, and this one would be based on information from a Global Insight forecast; is that correct?

MR. PUGH:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  You are seeking to lock that number in, i.e., the 2012 number, lock that in through this application?

MR. PUGH:  We are proposing -- the Global Insight forecast does have data for 12 and 24 months out.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. PUGH:  We propose to use the same month of data that is used for the Board's cost of capital report to calculate the Global Insight values that are for 2012.

MR. MILLAR:  But just to make sure we're clear, you are proposing to lock in the 2012 number through this application.

MR. PUGH:  That would be correct.

MR. MILLAR:  In other words, you don't intend to come back in a year for a cost of capital update?

MR. PUGH:  We don't.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

Now, I am going to take you to some cases where the Board has considered this issue or a similar issue, in any event, but before I take you to that, maybe I can ask you why it is the company's intention to not do an update for 2012.

MR. PUGH:  Well, we're applying for a two-year test period.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. PUGH:  And for all other elements of our revenue requirement, we have a 2011 forecast and a 2012 forecast that is based on information that is available believe at this time.  We're making the same type of forecast for return on equity and our long-term debt component.  It's consistent.

MR. MILLAR:  Are --


MR. PUGH:  Sorry.  So it is consistent.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Would you agree with me that the data we would have would be more accurate the closer we get to 2012?  For example, if we were to use a forecast from a year from now, would that give a better number for 2012 than the number you have derived currently?

MR. PUGH:  Absolutely.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, are you opposed to doing an update in a year's time?

MR. PUGH:  I am --


MR. MILLAR:  This may be something for argument, so if you are not prepared to answer, that's fine, but I want to at least put it to the company.

MR. SMITH:  I am happy with the question.

MR. PUGH:  I am sure we would -- we could either bring forth an application.  That is one alternative.  Perhaps in this proceeding we could establish a deferral or variance account that would incorporate those things, whichever the Board would find most expedient, but we would be happy to consider that.

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe it would be helpful to take a look at how the Board has treated the cost of capital issue in some previous multi-year rate cases.

You will see the exhibit book I handed out earlier.  Do you have that?

MR. PUGH:  I have that.

MR. MILLAR:  There is a Toronto Hydro decision and a Hydro One decision at the beginning.

I will actually start with the Toronto Hydro decision, because that came first.  That is -- it starts at page 4 of the booklet.

MR. PUGH:  I don't have a stapled booklet.  I have four separate pieces.  So is it the piece of paper marked "Decision May 15th, 2008"?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  That's the one.

MR. PUGH:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  We've produced excerpts from that, and I am going to be starting at page 70, and then reading over to 71.  Do you have that?

MR. PUGH:  I have that.

MR. MILLAR:  For those of you who have the numbered booklet, those are pages 5 and 6.

Just so we're clear, this was -- were you familiar with this case?

MR. PUGH:  Which one?

MR. MILLAR:  The Toronto Hydro case.  That's what we're looking at now.

MR. PUGH:  I am sure I would have looked at it at some point in time.  I would have glossed over this.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Just for everyone's background, you can see in fact from the cover page that it is for rates for 2009 and 2010, so it was a two-year test year application.

If you look at the bottom of page 70, this is where the Board is dealing with the implementation of its decision.  It states in the final paragraph:
"Based on the above updates and in accordance with the settlement agreement, for purposes of setting 2008 rates, the Board-approved capitalization and cost of capital for the Applicant is as follows: ..."

I think I said 2009 and 2010.  I meant the years before that.  Regardless, then you look over and it gives the numbers, and, again, at the top of page 71, right under "Draft Rate Order", it says:
"This Decision will result in the approval of rates for test years 2008 and 2009."

I misspoke earlier.  Then you flip down to the penultimate paragraph there, it says:
"As for 2009 rates, this Decision will govern the establishment of those rates subject to the cost of capital parameter updates and possibly other Board decisions that might apply.  The Applicant shall apply in a timely fashion to receive approval for the 2009 rates to be effective May 1, 2009."

Do you see that?

MR. PUGH:  I do see that.

MR. MILLAR:  What happened in that case, then, would you agree, is the Board decided there would be an update to use the best available cost of capital numbers?

MR. PUGH:  That would seem to be the case.  I don't know if that was part of the settlement agreement beforehand and that the Board took that into account as part of a package of items, because you referred me to the bottom of page 7.  It says:
"Based on the above updates and in accordance with the settlement agreement..."

So I am -- I just don't know.

MR. MILLAR:  Fair enough.  Well, let's look at the Hydro One decision.  That's the beginning of our exhibit book.

MR. PUGH:  EB-2009-0096?

MR. MILLAR:  That's the one.

MR. PUGH:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  As you will see from the cover, it is for the rate years 2010 and 2011.  This is their distribution rate hearing.

I have reproduced only two pages, pages 50 and 51.  Do you have those?

MR. PUGH:  I do.

MR. MILLAR:  If you look at the bottom of page 50:
"The Cost of Capital parameters will be updated for the purpose of establishing 2011 rates.  The Board will rely on September, 2010 data for purposes of deriving the ROE and short-term debt rate.  The Board will issue a letter containing the necessary values to allow Hydro One to develop a Draft Rate Order, to be effective January 1, 2011."

Then flipping to the next page:
"Hydro One will be required to provide an updated cost of long-term debt, based on actual debt issued.  The Board expects this process to be mechanistic in nature; no further evidence will be heard at that point."


Do you see that?

MR. PUGH:  I do see that.

MR. MILLAR:  And do you understand from that what the Board required of Hydro One with regard to cost of capital update?  Is that fairly self-explanatory?

MR. PUGH:  I believe it is.

MR. MILLAR:  And you would agree that is not exactly what OPG is proposing in this case?

MR. PUGH:  I would agree that that is not what we proposed.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If the Board Staff or other intervenors were to suggest this approach for OPG - in other words, the Hydro One approach - can you tell me what the company's position would be?

MR. SMITH:  We will save that for argument.

MR. MILLAR:  Argument?  Okay, thank you.

Just a quick follow-up on the short-term debt numbers you proposed.  Not to spend a lot of time on this because I think it is a related issue and I have your answers, but I understand that the short-term debt numbers you have embedded in your current application are derived from using a December 2009 Global Insight -- using data from Global Insight; is that right?

MR. LEE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And December is a few months ago now.  Are you proposing to update the short-term debt numbers using a more recent data set?

MR. LEE:  I don't believe that is the case.  We're being consistent in terms of our approach.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry.  I don't mean update for 2012.  I mean update for 2011, given the fact it is now almost a year -- this data is getting on a year old.

MR. PUGH:  What we've done is we filed our information based on as it existed with our business plan.  For several different components of our revenue requirement, we hadn't really proposed to update any of the specific parameters of it.

MR. MILLAR:  I only ask because you are proposing to update the 2011 ROE number based on updates you receive from the Board.

I am not suggesting it is right or it is wrong.  I am just asking if you are proposing a similar update for the short-term debt numbers.  I take it the answer is no?

MR. PUGH:  I think a lot of intervenors would accuse us of cherry-picking if we took selected things and updated them.

MR. MILLAR:  So the answer is no?

MR. PUGH:  The answer is no.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

I have one more set of questions on the cost of capital, and this may be a somewhat theoretical discussion. I do want to keep it high-level.  I just want to understand the company's high-level position on a couple of things.

So let me run through some questions.  We will see where we get.  And it relates in part to Pollution Probe's proposal, so I will probably ask similar questions of their witnesses in the afternoon.

But I will start with you, because I want to hear the company's answer.

Just by way of background, what Pollution Probe is proposing is a separate equity thickness for nuclear and hydro assets, and in Pollution Probe's view this is to reflect the differences in business risk between the two lines of business; is that a fair summary?

MS. McSHANE:  Yes, that would -- that would be my conclusion as to the rationale.

MR. MILLAR:  Obviously, OPG is opposed to this approach, or at least the specific Pollution Probe solution?

MR. PUGH:  I think I am on record saying what our position was, and it is the same as it was last time.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  No, I understand.  But you are not proposing to do what Pollution Probe suggests?

MR. PUGH:  We are not.

MR. MILLAR:  What I want to do is explore some of the implications for OPG if the Board were to look at Pollution Probe's proposal and perhaps look to implement it.

So you are proposing the same equity thickness for both nuclear and hydro, as we have just heard, and I also understand that you are proposing the same long-term debt numbers for both sides of the business, the rate, the long-term debt rate.  It is a single cost of capital number?

MR. PUGH:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And I want to explore this a little bit more deeply.  I don't think you need to turn this up, but I have a reference if you need it.

But in the calculation of the revenue requirement, you make adjustments on the nuclear side based on the lesser of UNL and ARC; is that right?  There is an adjustment made there?

MR. PUGH:  The ARC is specifically related to our asset retirement obligations, which is specifically related to our nuclear rate base.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. PUGH:  So we thought it was appropriate to allocate that directly to nuclear rate base.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  And that makes perfect sense, I think, for the reasons you have just indicated.

Now, I will confess the precise accounting treatment of this lesser of ARC or UNL is a bit of a mystery to me, but I understand it goes into rate base but it attracts a different rate-of-return than the balance of the rate base; is that correct?

MR. PUGH:  Your assumption is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And the rate is lower.  I understand it is just under 5.6 percent; is that right?

MR. PUGH:  If you turn to C1, tab 1, schedule 1, table 1, on line 7, the rate is 5.58 for 2012.  And that rate is the same as for 2001, as you see in Exhibit C1, tab 1, schedule 1, table 2, also at line 7.

MR. MILLAR:  Is this treated similarly to debt financing?  Are there any parallels to be drawn there?

MR. PUGH:  Our debt financing occurs on the lines above that.

MR. MILLAR:  I know it is not exactly debt financing but in the terms, I mean, the rate is similar to a debt rate.  You don't get, you know, taxes or PILs allowances for it.

I understand that technically it is not debt, but is it treated in a similar way to debt financing, or is that not accurate?

MR. PUGH:  If you are wanting about the tax treatment of the accretion component, I believe the next panel would be in a position to more appropriately answer your question.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Now, could I ask you to turn to tab 2, schedule 2, table 6?

MR. PUGH:  Could I have the reference again?  C1?

MR. MILLAR:  C1, tab 2, schedule 2, table 6.

MR. PUGH:  This is the "Capitalization and cost of capital, summary of existing and planned long-term debt for 2011"?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, that's right.

MR. PUGH:  I have that.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry.

My own copy has vanished, but I can --


MR. SMITH:  Sorry, Mr. Millar, what was the reference again?

MR. MILLAR:  I apologize.  C1, tab 2, schedule 2, table 6.

MR. PUGH:  I think it is tab 1.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  You are absolutely right.  My apologies.  Which explains where mine went.  Yes.  Okay.  Thank you for the correction.

Again, just so the record is clear, C1, tab 1, schedule 2, table 6.

And as the table says, these are a description of your long-term debt arrangements; is that right?

MR. LEE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And I see that the bottom, the bottom half essentially, line items 20 through about 37 are all called "Niagara".  Can you tell me what that is for?

MR. LEE:  That's the anticipated borrowings for our Niagara tunnel project.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that is all for the Niagara tunnel?

MR. LEE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  The top ones, 1 through 17, are just listed by issue number.

Are those assignable to any specific project or line of business?  Or are these just general debt issues?

MR. PUGH:  At the very top of that schedule, table 6, you will see:  "Company-wide borrowing."

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. PUGH:  So it is not specific to a project that can be directly assigned to either hydro or nuclear operations.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But the bottom ones are assignable specifically to Niagara, as the name suggests?

MT. PUGH:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, since these are assignable specifically to the Niagara tunnel, which as I understand it, is solely for hydro, did the company give any thought to assigning different long-term debt rates based on a direct assignment of these instruments?

I take it you didn't, because there is only one LTD number, but maybe you could explain to me why you didn't.

MR. PUGH:  Well, what we did was we looked at specific projects, and all we did was -- we stopped at assigning it to the regulated operation or the unregulated operation.

So we simply assigned this to regulated operations, and then the pool of funds remaining is the corporate-wide debt, and that is the one we allocate based on the net assets associated with either regulated or unregulated operations.

MR. MILLAR:  You have separate rate bases for nuclear and hydro; is that right?

MR. PUGH:  We do.

MR. MILLAR:  And again, I am not even sure anyone is going to propose this, whether it be Staff, Pollution Probe or anyone, but I guess the question might remain:  If you have specific debt issuances assigned to a specific side of the business, is there a reason to not -- to assign a specific debt rate, based on that?

MR. LEE:  Well, the specific debt actually was assigned for the -- because the facilities had actually been set up for this specific project.  But the debt itself, actually, the debt rate itself actually reflects the rate of the risk profile of the corporation.

So actually, the debt rate itself is not a project-specific rate.  The debt is actually drawn to fund the project, but the rate itself reflects the corporation's risk profile, not specific to the project risk.

MR. PUGH:  That is why you'll see it is project-related, as opposed to project-specific.

MR. MILLAR:  I think I understand your answer.  And I don't want to belabour this point, because I am not sure anyone will actually make any submissions on this anyway, but thank you for your answers on that.

I am going to move on to another area.

I have some questions about asset retirement obligations.  And maybe the first question is -- if you could turn up Board Staff Interrogatory 128, that is an interrogatory that Mr. DeRose, I believe, took you to yesterday.  It is under Issue 8.1.

It is on the screen now.

You had a lengthy discussion about this with Mr. DeRose, and I will only keep you on this for a second.  It is actually not a follow-up to his question.  It is a separate issue.

But what we asked for there was policy papers, positions, et cetera, on this issue.  And you responded that there was an NEB case relating to pipeline abandonment; is that right?

MR. PUGH:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Now, first of all, this answer was provided a little while ago, anyway.  Have there been any updates, anything new since then?

MR. PUGH:  Not that I am aware of.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Now, with regard to this NEB case, I understand -- as it is described there -- it relates to pipeline retirement obligations; is that correct?

MR. PUGH:  That is.

MR. MILLAR:  So obviously, it is not related in any way to nuclear?

MR. PUGH:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Unless it is a nuclear pipeline of some sort.  I would also imagine that for this particular pipeline, obviously the ONFA does not apply, but, to your knowledge, would there be a similar document that would apply in that situation?

MR. PUGH:  I don't believe that is the case.  If you look at the type of activities they're doing, they're trying to scope out the nature of the asset retirement obligation in the first process for submission May 2011, and then they're going to talk about how you set aside funds in order to meet that obligation in the second activity.  So they're --


MR. MILLAR:  This case, indeed, is still, I would say, in its infancy, but there is more to come on this, obviously.

MR. PUGH:  There is more to come, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  You are monitoring it, of course, but you are not presenting this as the final word on asset retirement obligations?

MR. PUGH:  Not at all.  But we -- the only thing we knew that was out there at all where there is an active process, and we're following it.

MR. MILLAR:  I just want to make sure we understand what weight you place on this.

I take it would you agree with me it is not particularly relevant for our discussions today?

MR. PUGH:  I would.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  Could we go to Exhibit C -- let me see if I get it right this time -- C2, tab 1, schedule 2, and I think starting with table 1.  Again, that is C2, tab 1, schedule 2, table 1.

MR. PUGH:  Yes, I have it here.

MR. MILLAR:  We have had a few questions on this.  I have some follow-up, and some of this may be more to complete the record and make sure we understand.

If we look at line 2, there is the Darlington refurbishment adjustment.  Do you see that?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes, I do.  The 497.4 million in 2010?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, that's right.  And there is a note relating to that at the bottom, note 3.

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And it says:
"Adjustment recorded on January 1, 2010 associated with the changes to the end-of-life date assumptions underlying the ARO calculation, as a result of the approval of the definition phase of the Darlington Refurbishment project."


Do you see that?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And, again, we've heard this before, but just to be clear, the Darlington project I guess is at the definition stage, but there is no approval from OPG's board of directors to proceed with that project today?

MR. MAUTI:  As has been presented previously from that panel, they've approved the -- that phase, the phase of the project it is currently in, yes, the definition phase.

MR. MILLAR:  The definition phase, but not the go ahead for the full project?

MR. MAUTI:  From what I understand, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  First, will OPG's 2010 financial statements include this adjustment?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes, it does.  Even in the 2009 financial statements, there was a subsequent event disclosure note to the 2009 statements identifying this as an adjustment.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  Now, if the Darlington project is ultimately approved and goes forward and is -- I don't know if you call it built, but if it is refurbished, obviously there will be numerous additional costs that go into rates; is that fair to say?

The project costs are something in the range of $6 to $10 billion, I understand.  And sooner or later, that would work its way into rates?

MR. MAUTI:  I'm assuming there have been other panels that have confirmed how it is going to get into rates.

MR. MILLAR:  I guess my point is you will be seeking recovery from ratepayers for whatever the Darlington refurb costs?

MR. MAUTI:  It would be a prescribed asset, so I am assuming it would follow whatever process.

MR. MILLAR:  Again, I know you may not be a rates person, but my understanding is that there is the CWIP issue, but most of these costs would be recovered when they go into rate base, and then they would be entitled to depreciation and cost of capital.  Have I got that right?

MR. MAUTI:  You are correct.  I'm not a rates person.

[Laughter]

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. PUGH:  You're also correct it would go into rate base.

MR. MILLAR:  It would go into rate base, and that would happen --


MR. PUGH:  In the normal course.

MR. MILLAR:  In the normal course, that would happen when the asset is used and useful?

MR. PUGH:  When it meets that criteria, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  There may be some other O&M expenses, something like that, prior to the project ultimately closing, although I would think most of those would be in CWIP.  But, regardless, by and large, it would go into rate base when it is used and useful.

MR. PUGH:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  And, obviously, since it is not in rates now, you can't recover it now, nor are you proposing to do so, but let me put this question to you.

Is that because the ratepayers aren't benefitting from it right now?  Would you agree with that statement?  You are not entitled to put it into rate base until it is used and useful for the reason that people aren't benefitting from it until then; is that a fair statement?

MR. SMITH:  Well, Mr. Millar, I am not sure that it is fair to ask the witnesses whether, as a legal matter, it can be included in rate base.  It is not being proposed to be included in rate base.

MR. MILLAR:  That's fine.  So all of this is obviously an elaborate setup to the question of:  Why are the asset retirement obligations going into -- I guess they go into rate base.  Why are they going into rate base not only before the project is built and used and useful, and, indeed, even before it's been approved by OPG's board of directors?

So can you help me with that?

MR. MAUTI:  Well, the requirements to reflect the impact of the asset retirement obligation, we are following generally accepted accounting practice for Canada to revalue and measure the ARO with a decision on the change of use of the asset to extend it to the 2051 date, as has been done for ARC purposes, as well as depreciation, purposes as has been presented.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  You talk about -- I didn't get the word, but the generally accepted standards.  Are you talking about the CICA guidelines, or is this GAAP, or --


MR. MAUTI:  Yes.  That would be section 31.10, as I think you have in your booklet, as well.

MR. MILLAR:  I do.  I only have the cover page, of course.  Does 31.10 -- this is CICA 31.10.  If we get into this too deeply, Madam Chair, I do have a couple of copies handy -- but does it discuss when you should start booking the ARO?  And, specifically, does it reference whether or not the project should be approved, or if the definition stage is sufficient?  Is that specifically discussed in --


MR. MAUTI:  There are subsections 31.10 -- you probably haven't handed out the full section to all people, but section 16 to 20 deal with the topic of subsequent recognition and measurement, and it deals with changes to the asset retirement obligation after its initial measurement, which was in our case done back when the standard was enacted in 2003.

MR. MILLAR:  Does it specifically reference when you can start booking the ARO?  Again, I am looking for specific references to what level of approval a project needs before you should start accounting for this.

MR. MAUTI:  I can read to you the section 16, which gives us the authorization or the --


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, maybe it would be helpful.  I do have some spare copies, so if we are going to be referencing it directly, I could give those to the Panel.  I have a copy here.  We may have one or two extras, to the extent others need them.  But I will ask Ms. Binette to take those up.

I understand you already have it.  Since we are going to be discussing it directly, Madam Chair, I would propose we give it an exhibit number.  That would be K12.3, and it is the CICA guide book, section 31.10.
EXHIBIT NO. K12.3:  CICA GUIDE BOOK, SECTION 31.10.

MR. MILLAR:  And, Mr. Mauti, I believe you were taking us to section 16; is that correct?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.  Section 16, and I will read it.  It says:
"In periods subsequent to initial measurement an entity should recognize period-to-period changes in the liability for an asset retirement obligation resulting from..."


And subsection (a) is the passage of time, and (b) is revisions to either the timing or the amount of the original estimate of undiscounted cash flows.

The subsection (a) just deals with the accretion or the interest improvement of the obligation over time.

And subsection (b) deals with revisions to when we feel the timing of the cash flows related to the liability would be triggered.

And subsection it's (b) which we, I believe, used as part of the January 2010 adjustment to the ARO.

MR. MILLAR:  In your view, how does the definition phase of the project fit in with section 16?

MR. MAUTI:  Section 16 doesn't deal with any particular trigger point of an entity's decision making, but it does say when -- the entity believes the revision to the timing or the amount of the original estimate of the cash flows.

Since we made the accounting decision in 2010, the definition phase was applicable to extend the depreciation life.  Commensurate with that, the asset retirement obligations are revalued to be consistent, internally consistent, with that approach.  So that would mean the timing of cash flows, such as decommissioning, would be pushed out to the period of time that would reflect the new end of life date.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I think I understand your answer.

You have taken us to section 16.  Are there any other sections in this document that are of relevance to this issue, or is that the one?

MR. MAUTI:  I would like to say I have memorized the entire 32 pages, but I think that would be the principal one.

MR. MILLAR:  Principal one or only one?

MR. MAUTI:  I can't definitively say there is no other section here dealing with any remeasurement activity.

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe we can leave it at this.  I will assume it is only 16.  If something comes to you, you will let us know?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.  16 is the direct reference we did use.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  Just a couple of other short areas.  If you could flip ahead to table 3, this is, again, Exhibit C2, tab 1, schedule 2, tab 3?

MR. MAUTI:  I have it, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Just give me one moment.  Okay.  I have some questions on this.  I think they're largely by way of clarification, but I do want to put them to you, because I am not sure the record is quite clear.

You see at line 6, for example, the ARO adjustment.  This is the $497 million we have just been discussing?

MR. MAUTI:  For the prescribed facilities, and the column G has the impact of Bruce facilities, to net out to the $293 million number we have quoted before.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that is my first question.

I think I have an idea of how this works, but how is it that the increase in the prescribed facilities, Darlington chiefly, how is it that that leads to the impacts on the other areas of that line?  Why are there reductions resulting from that?

MR. MAUTI:  Okay.  I will take you back to the evidence at C2, tab 1, schedule 2, the bottom or -- bottom of page 2, top of page 3 deals with how we take an ARO change and allocate it amongst the different stations.

It describes the fact that we have a variety of different nuclear waste programs.  If you look at lines 1 through 5, they talk about those five major programs that we have discussed in the evidence.

Some of those programs, namely the used fuel disposal, low-level waste and intermediate-level waste program, include a significant amount of centralized program costs.

The way that we handle the allocation to the stations when we have a centralized program is the proportion of total waste that each station is going to generate over its life determines what portion of the ARO adjustment would be accepted under each one of those stations.

So --


MR. MILLAR:  So there is a reallocation because Darlington is getting a bigger share now?

MR. MAUTI:  Darlington will operate longer.  It will produce a larger amount of the share of waste.  It will attract more of the centralized program cost, and as a result the other facilities, both Bruce and prescribed, would get a lesser share.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  If you look up on line 4, this is:  "Used fuel disposal program."  You skim across to Darlington, you see a total cost of $1.1 billion?

MR. MAUTI:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  First, the used fuel disposal program, I take it these are the direct costs of disposing of the fuel bundles; is that what that is?

MR. MAUTI:  That would be the long-term management of fuel bundles, including siting, investigation of an appropriate site, and all of the pre-work, then the construction and ultimate management of that program.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  We have -- there is two ways we might approach this.

We wanted to know exactly what fed into that $1.1 billion.  In other words, I guess the number of fuel rods that were assumed, and I guess the time at which they went in, and I guess the -- I don't know if it is done on a cost per fuel rod or something like that.

I assume that is information you have; right?  Because you have given us a number of $1.1 billion?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.  There's a significant amount of backup data that goes into that number, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you have that data readily available?  Is that something you can provide?  Or is it -- I assume you have a sheet that spat out the number $1.1 billion?

MR. MAUTI:  Series of sheets or binders, but yes, it will --


MR. MILLAR:  Binders or sheets?

MR. MAUTI:  Well, as we tried to articulate as part of the undertaking, when we run the scenarios and impacts, there is multiple stages and estimates that are done as part of making this change, everything from a system plan that estimates the volume of waste, logistics on how the waste is going to be transported between certain facilities, how they get disposed, the impact of the cost estimates that are part of the approved ONFA reference plan that we use, those baseline estimates, how they get redistributed, then escalated, then discounted.  And --


MR. MILLAR:  It sounds like, obviously, an involved calculation.

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  But you have done it; right?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Is there an objection to producing it?  Is there anything we are not supposed to see there, because of confidentiality reasons, for example?

MR. MAUTI:  I don't believe so.  Other than you will be asking some of the same individuals that were also trying to work on the undertakings in the same period of time.

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe it would be easier if you give me the high-level overview of what feeds into that number.

Can you tell me what are the inputs to give you the $1.1 billion?

MR. MAUTI:  Yes.  We would start with formulating the additional fuel bundles that a refurbished Darlington would generate between the refurb date and 2051 end-of-life.

Those total quantum of fuel bundles -- I am trying to keep it simple.  Forget the logistics and transportation and the intermediate steps, but the volume of those fuel bundles, in comparison to the volume of fuel bundles coming from each of the other stations, is then used to figure out the proportion of the total program costs that should be going to Darlington.

There are those fixed portion of the program costs, which the ARO represents.

We would look at those total fixed-cost portions, redistribute based on the life-cycle volume of fuel bundles with each of the stations, applying that to those fixed costs, and determine the increase or decrease on a station-by-station basis we would need.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  Okay.  I take it -- or I shouldn't take it.  There is no summary table, something shorter than the full schedule, showing how this 1.1 billion was derived?

MR. MAUTI:  There is probably a next level down, in terms of the calculation.  It depends how far down you want to go to validate the number.

MR. MILLAR:  Those are things that you have?  Or those are things you can produce?

MR. MAUTI:  I don't have them here, but we could produce.

MR. MILLAR:  Could I ask you to produce, at a level of granularity less than the full schedule -- and I would leave it to your judgment -- a document that you have already prepared that would show us the derivation of the $1.1 billion?  Is that something that is relatively easy to do?

MR. MAUTI:  I think it should be, yes.

MR. SMITH:  Sorry.  Just before we give another undertaking, maybe it would just assist me in responding if I understood whether the information at line 4 would be information that would also form part of the various scenarios that are being generated?

MR. MAUTI:  In effect, everything you see in table 3 would have to be redone for every one of the scenarios in order to calculate an impact of the asset retirement obligation, as well as all of the supporting detail going into it.

MR. MILLAR:  I am not sure if that was a "yes" or "no" then.

Will we already have the information that I am asking for now?

MR. MAUTI:  Sorry.  I thought the question was, if in doing the undertakings and scenarios, would a similar set of information be made available?

MR. SMITH:  This is the reason I asked the question, rather than do more work or produce more information.

If my friend's question is generated towards:  I would like to know how this number moves if there is Darlington refurbishment, if -- or not, if we are providing that information in the various scenarios, then I don't see the utility of the additional undertaking.

MR. MILLAR:  I am not asking for that.  I just want a document providing further detail on the calculation of the $1.1 billion.  I understood Mr. Mauti said there should be a document that can assist, and I would leave it to his judgment to provide what he thinks most appropriate there.

I understand there is something, so I would ask that that be provided.  And if I get a "yes" that is my last question.

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

[Laughter.]

[Witness panel confers.]

MR. MAUTI:  If I remember the question correctly, I think that is a "yes".

MR. MILLAR:  So that will be J12.2, and it is to provide -- pardon me, J12.3, to provide a further breakout of the $1.1 billion for used fuel disposal program, as it appears in Exhibit C-2, tab 1, schedule 2, table 3.

UNDERTAKING NO. J12.3:  to PROVIDE FURTHER BREAKOUT OF THE $1.1 billion FOR USED FUEL DISPOSAL PROGRAM, AS IT APPEARS IN EXHIBIT C2, TAB 1, SCHEDULE 2, TABLE 3.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.

Questions by the Board:


MS. CHAPLIN:  I just have just a couple of questions for the panel.

Ms. McShane, I think actually these questions are primarily for you.  I would like to have the benefit a little further of your views around the impact of CWIP and in terms of -- as you have described the nuclear project adds incremental risk and that CWIP is a way to mitigate some of that risk.

Have I accurately captured your view?

MS. McSHANE:  Correct, that being able to put -- I call it CWIP, but CWIP in rate base gives you the cash flow while the plant is being built.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  So that's what I would like to understand a little better, because, as I understand it, that's all it gives you, is cash flow.  It is really a timing issue, not a recovery issue.

I am wondering, how is it that having more immediate cash flows mitigates the risks that are associated with the project, which, as I understand your characterization, are that it may be more expensive, it may take longer, and all of those sort of risks of a big project of that nature, how it is that the cash flows -- the advanced cash flows mitigate those risks?

MS. McSHANE:  I think that putting CWIP in rate
base -- and, of course, there are issues around the cost that is associated with the CWIP in rate base versus the AFUDC issue, which I will mention in a second.

But I think the CWIP in rate base gives investors greater assurance that those costs will be -- that are incurred will be recoverable.

I mean, clearly there are still prudency issues that would be associated with either the CWIP in rate base or AFUDC approach, but I do think that investors have greater comfort that a CWIP in rate base approach is associated with greater assurance of cost recovery.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And in your experience, is CWIP in rate base generally done in conjunction with a finding that -- essentially an approval of the project by the regulator?

MS. McSHANE:  That I am not sure of.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I am just asking for --


MS. McSHANE:  That's an issue I have not actually looked at, to determine whether there's been preapproval of the project or not, before a CWIP in rate base has been allowed.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.

MS. McSHANE:  But if you don't mind, the other thing I did want to mention was that there is that issue of the costs that's associated with CWIP versus AFUDC where in -- like, in some provinces, for example, in Alberta, where there is a full cost of capital that is associated with AFUDC.

So there is another difference, I guess, between CWIP in rate base and the AFUDC approach, where the AFUDC approach only allows -- I guess it is not really an AFUDC approach.  It is an interest during construction approach.

So what happens under the latter, the interest during construction approach, is that essentially a utility is financing construction with the totality of its capital structure, but is only recovering through the capitalization of costs a debt rate.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you.  Then to return to the question of whether or not it is appropriate or feasible to establish separate capital structures, would it be fair to say that -- to characterize your view, one aspect of your views, that essentially if you -- if you try to set -- if you set two separate capital structures that -- for two stand-alone technologies, that sort of, by definition, the sum of those two costs of capital really is going to be higher than the cost of capital would be for the combined entity?

MS. McSHANE:  I would say that is true, yes.

MS. CHAPLIN:  And is that one of the difficulties that arises in trying to set separate capital structures, but still maintain the same return on equity for both sides?  Is that a...

MS. McSHANE:  I think that that is fair, and I think the other issue is -- well, and it is a related issue, is that you have a number, an overall capital structure that you determined, and you must, if you are going to have separate capital structures, work within the confines of those, and still for each one maintain compatibility with return with alternative investments.

So if you look at what the overall capital structure that you've permitted is, and what the alternative returns are for, say, in this province, where you've got a 40 percent equity ratio for lower-risk distribution utilities, I mean, clearly in order to determine a capital structure that would be commensurate with the hydroelectric's risk, it has to be higher than 40.

And if you look at what the benchmarks out there in Canada are, I mean, you're looking at, for its risks, something around 45.  So you end up not having that much differential possible between the two, in any event.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.  Mr. Smith, do you have anything in re-examination?

MR. SMITH:  I believe I just have...

MS. CHAPLIN:  Turn on your microphone, please.
Re-Examination by Mr. Smith:

MR. SMITH:  I believe I just have a single question, but let me just make sure of that.

Mr. Lee, I am just going back to some cross-examination from yesterday, perhaps yesterday morning.  So I would ask you to cast your mind back and turn to Exhibit I1, tab 1, schedule 1, table 1, if you could.

You will recall there was a question from my friend, Mr. DeRose, about ROE, and my initial question is:  Can you just tell me what is the impact of -- you needn't break it down by hydroelectric or nuclear, but what is the impact of the overall cost of capital, if any, on OPG's revenue requirement in the two test periods?

MR. LEE:  For hydroelectric, nuclear or both?

MR. SMITH:  Well, for both.  For both.

MR. LEE:  So I think for -- it is on line 12.  For hydroelectric, that would be 351, and for nuclear it is 239.7.

MR. SMITH:  That's the return on equity number you are looking at?

MR. LEE:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And what about the total cost of capital?

MR. LEE:  Total cost of capital would be 574.9 and 560.3.

MR. SMITH:  And how are those funds used?

MR. LEE:  Those funds are used to help, I guess, cover operations, as well as in terms of primarily investing a lot of our capital initiatives going forward, as well.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  I believe those are all of my questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  The panel is excused with the Board's thanks.

We are ready for Drs. Roberts and Kryzanowski.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Madam Chair, I was going to suggest a short break would be helpful just to help Dr. Kryzanowski and Dr. Roberts set up, but I am not sure if that is the afternoon break you wish to take now, or wait for that.  I am in the Board's hands on that.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Well, we will go ahead and take the afternoon break now.  Looking at the timing, if the estimates are reasonably accurate, we should be able to complete in an hour and a half, so maybe we won't need a subsequent break.  So we will take 15 minutes now.  Thank you.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 2:29 p.m.


--- On resuming at 2:51 p.m.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please be seated.  Mr. Alexander.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Begin with your panel.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Pollution Probe is pleased to present Dr. Kryzanowski and Dr. Roberts to testify again, and I would ask that they please be sworn.
ONTARIO POWER GENERATION - PANEL 10


Gordon S. Roberts, Sworn

Lawrence Kryzanowski, Sworn
Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Alexander:


MR. ALEXANDER:  Madam Chair, before I get started, for once, I do not have a reference book for my examination-in-chief.  But the two documents that I intend to refer to are included in the OPG cross-examination reference book, so it may make sense for convenience for Mr. Smith to file that, and we just use one book, rather than have the Board flipping between volumes of the same materials.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I think that is fine.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, absolutely.  It's fine.

MR. MILLAR:  This will be Exhibit K12.4, and it is, in fact, the OPG compendium.
EXHIBIT NO. K12.4:  OPG COMPENDIUM.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Go ahead.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Could you please state your names for the record?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Lawrence Kryzanowski.

DR. ROBERTS:  Gordon Roberts.

MR. ALEXANDER:  I am going to go through, first, your qualifications, and I am going to start with you, Dr. Kryzanowski.

If I can take you to tab 1 of the cross-examination reference book for Ontario Power Generation, which has been marked as Exhibit K12.4, this is a copy of your -- appears to be a copy of your evidence that you prefiled, at Exhibit M, tab 10; correct?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And if I take you to page 71 of the tab, which is the same page in the -- in your evidence, do you have that?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  I do.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And this is an appendix to your evidence, which appears to be, for the first part, to be a brief curriculum vitae for yourself; correct?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  That is correct.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And to go through your background, you have a bachelor of arts and economics and mathematics from the University of Calgary?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. ALEXANDER:  A Ph.D. in finance from UBC?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. ALEXANDER:  You are currently a full professor of finance at Concordia University, and you have held that position since 1983?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Since earlier than that.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Do you know --


DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Even forget after a while.

MR. ALEXANDER:  But definitely in 1983 you were a full professor?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Full professor, yes.

MR. ALEXANDER:  By 1983.  And you have taught numerous undergraduates, MBA, master's of science and Ph.D. students, as well as various executives?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  That is correct.

MR. ALEXANDER:  You currently hold the Concordia University research chair in finance?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Right.  It is really a senior Concordia University research chair in finance, but I always leave the "senior" off.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Thank you for the correction.

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Because it is quite long.

MR. ALEXANDER:  I can appreciate that.  You previously held the Ned Goodman chair in investment finance?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  That is correct.

MR. ALEXANDER:  You have authored or co-authored over 110 refereed journal articles, seven books or monographs, and over 195 papers, and you have presented over 195 papers at academic conferences?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Right.  This just changes all the time.  I have over 115 articles now.

MR. ALEXANDER:  You have won several awards with respect to your research in finance?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  That's correct.

MR. ALEXANDER:  You are serving or have served as an editor or member of editorial boards for various finance journals?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  That is correct.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And you have consulted for various organizations, including the Superintendent of Financial Institutions, the Federal Department of Finance, the Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation, or CMHC, the Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation, CDIC, External Affairs Canada, Canada Investment and Savings, which is a special operating agency of the Department of Finance, Hydro-Quebec, the National Bank, and Bombardier?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Right.  That is a partial list.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And you have appeared as an expert witness before boards analogous to the Ontario Energy Board in other jurisdictions, including the Alberta Energy and Utilities Board, the Nova Scotia Utility and Review Board, the Regie de l'energie du Quebec, the Public Utilities Board of the Northwest Territories, and the Alberta Utilities Commission?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  That is correct.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And most recently, with respect to this Board, you testified before this Board in the EB-2007-0905 proceeding, which was regarding the 2008 and '09 payments?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And the issues that you are prepared to testify about are issues that come up as part of your teaching and part of your research on a regular basis, and they're also issues that you have testified about in these other proceedings, as well?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  That is correct.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Dr. Roberts, I am going to move on to you and your qualifications.

DR. ROBERTS:  Thank you.

MR. ALEXANDER:  If I can get you to turn the page at the same tab, to page 74, of Exhibit M, tab 10, do you have that?

DR. ROBERTS:  I have it.

MR. ALEXANDER:  So this is the second part of the appendix, which appears to be a brief curriculum vitae for yourself; correct?

DR. ROBERTS:  Correct.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And you have a bachelor of arts and economics from Oberlin College?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes, I do.

MR. ALEXANDER:  You have a Ph.D. from Boston College?

DR. ROBERTS:  Correct.

MR. ALEXANDER:  You are currently the CIBC professor of financial services at York University's Schulich School of business?

DR. ROBERTS:  I am.

MR. ALEXANDER:  You held that position since 1994?

DR. ROBERTS:  Correct.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Before then, you were the Bank of Montreal professor of finance at Dalhousie University's School of Business?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And you held that position from 1988 to 1994?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes, that's right.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And you have held the position of full professor at various universities since 1980?

DR. ROBERTS:  Correct.

MR. ALEXANDER:  You have been a visiting professor at several universities?

DR. ROBERTS:  I have.

MR. ALEXANDER:  You have taught numerous undergraduates, MBA, Ph.D. students, as well as executives, including the -- including through the Kellogg-Schulich executive MBA program?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MR. ALEXANDER:  You have authored or co-authored over 40 journal articles and three corporate finance texts?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes, I have.

MR. ALEXANDER:  You have won awards with respect to your research in finance?

DR. ROBERTS:  I have.

MR. ALEXANDER:  You are serving or have served as an editor or member of editorial boards for various finance journals?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes, that's right.

MR. ALEXANDER:  You have consulted for various organizations, including the Superintendent of Financial Institutions, the Federal Department of finance, Canada Investment and Savings, which is, again, a special operating agency of the Federal Department of Finance, the Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation, or CMHC, and the Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation, or CDIC?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And you have appeared as an expert witness before boards analogous to the Ontario Energy Board in other jurisdictions, including the Alberta Energy Utility Board, the Nova Scotia Utility and Review Board, the Regie de l'energie du Quebec, the Public Utility Board -- Utilities Board of the Northwest Territories, and the Alberta Utilities Commission?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes.  That's right, except in the case of the Northwest Territories.  Only my colleague got to travel to Yellowknife, but I did work with him on the evidence.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And with respect to this Board and testifying before this Board, you prefiled testimony in 1995 -- 1995 to 1997 in the -- for the rate hearings on behalf of the Board, as a Board witness for what was then known as Consumers Gas?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MR. ALEXANDER:  In 1996, you were an expert advisor in the Board's diversification workshop?

DR. ROBERTS:  I was.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And most recently in 2008, you testified and were qualified as an expert with respect to EB-2007-0905, the previous hearing which was regarding OPG's 2008-2009 payments?

DR. ROBERTS:  Correct.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And the issues that you are prepared to testify about are issues that come up as part of your teaching and part of your research on a regular basis, and they're also issues that you have testified about either here or elsewhere?

DR. ROBERTS:  They are.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Madam Chair, I would ask that Doctors Kryzanowski and Roberts be qualified as experts for the purpose of this proceeding, particularly with respect to Issues 3.1 and 3.3 and related issues.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Does OPG have any objection to that?

MR. SMITH:  No objection.

MS. CHAPLIN:  So they are so found to be qualified.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

So if I can move on to your evidence, looking at tab 1 of your -- of the OPG cross-examination reference book which has been marked as Exhibit K12.4, this appears to be a copy of your evidence as originally filed and is located in the record at Exhibit M, tab 10; correct?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Yes, it is.

DR. ROBERTS:  Correct.

MR. ALEXANDER:  You prepared this evidence dated August 2010 yourself or under your supervision?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  That's correct.

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes, we did.

MR. ALEXANDER:  There were also some revisions that you filed.  I believe there were five typographical corrections that you -- that were filed on your behalf in late September, I believe September 23rd; is that correct?

DR. ROBERTS:  Correct.

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  That's correct.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Those were prepared also by you or under your supervision?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Correct.

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And you should have a binder there with you, a fairly sizeable binder, of interrogatory responses to -- interrogatory responses to various interrogatories on your evidence.  Do you have that?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And I believe that's been filed as Exhibit M, tabs 10.1 through 10.15; correct?

DR. ROBERTS:  Correct.

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Correct.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And these interrogatory responses were prepared by you or prepared under your supervision?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes, they were.

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  That's correct.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And do you adopt all of the prefiled evidence, as revised in the interrogatory responses, as your evidence for this proceeding?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Correct.

DR. ROBERTS:  Correct.

MR. ALEXANDER:  I don't propose to go through your evidence in detail, but I think it would be useful to go through a little bit of the summary, at least with respect to some of the headings, in order to provide the Board some perspective of your evidence, at least on a high level.

So if I could take you to page 5 of your evidence?

MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, if I may?  I don't plan on objecting to what my friend is doing, provided what we're talking about is a high level, in that Drs. Kryzanowski and Roberts are in a different position than Ms. McShane.  Obviously they responded to her report, and so, in my view, it was appropriate to have some limited examination-in-chief for her.

I do not think that my -- that the witnesses, having taken the opportunity open to them to comment on her report in writing, it is appropriate to further comment at this stage, but if my friend is keeping it at a high level, that's fine and I will just listen to the questions.

MR. ALEXANDER:  I respectfully disagree with Mr. Smith.  Ms. McShane in her evidence-in-chief commented on Dr. Kryzanowski and Dr. Roberts' evidence.

We are in the position of being intervening evidence.  The practice of the Board is intervening evidence does go second, and they do have the benefit of the responding.  That is the nature of the process as to how it goes.  They're entitled to comment and offer their views, as appropriate, to the Board.

If the Board finds it of assistance, then we go from there.  But I believe that they are completely entitled to comment appropriately on their views in the appropriate context of evidence-in-chief.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Please proceed.

MR. ALEXANDER:  So if I take you to page 5 at section 1.3, do you have that?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Yes.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And 1.3 is a summary of your evidence; correct?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  That is correct.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Then the first section that you have as your major section is, "Case for Maintaining Currently Allowed Equity Thickness and Return on Equity for OPG's Aggregate Regulated Operations"; correct?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  That is correct.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Could you please provide a brief summary of your findings and opinions regarding that matter?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  We will try to keep it rather short.

Our conclusion is:
"...the Board's formula continues to provide a generous return for regulated utilities."


Whether you look forward or look back, that is the case.  If you look at the survey of knowledgeable professionals, the reset ROE of 9.75 and the utility-related equity risk premium of 5.5 is either near or above that for the market that's projected forward.

If you look back over the last 110 years, it is higher than the realized market equity risk premium over that period.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And moving on to the next section, which is the next page, page 6 of Exhibit M, tab 10.  Do you have that?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  I do.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And the section 1.3.2 is entitled, "Case for Setting Separate Equity Thicknesses for OPG's Regulated Nuclear and Hydroelectric Operations"?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Yes.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Could you please provide your findings and opinions regarding that matter?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  We essentially make two points there.  We start off with the main benefits of a divisional capital structure, and basically one of the problems with using the same capital structure for nuclear and hydro is that it is going to -- it's not going to reflect risk differences.

So what might happen is the utility might accept bad high risk projects and reject good low risk projects.

The other major problem is that there is a feedback effect from that.  Essentially, what's going to happen over time is it could be biased towards bad high risk projects, and that's going to affect the weighted average riskiness of the utility.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And if I could take you to the next page, page 7 of Exhibit M, tab 10, do you have that?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Yes, I do.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And the third section is section 1.3.3 entitled, "Economic and Financial Market Conditions"?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  It is.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Could you please provide your views and opinions regarding that matter?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  I will keep that down to one sentence.  Basically, it's much improved compared to the period during the credit crisis.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Succinct is always helpful.  If I could get you to turn to the next page, page 8 of Exhibit M, tab 10?

DR. ROBERTS:  We have that.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And the fourth section is entitled, "1.3.4 Capital Structure Recommendations for OPG Hydro and Nuclear".  Do you have that?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Could you please provide your findings and opinions regarding that matter?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes.  In that section, we adopt a heuristic or qualitative approach and explain why that is appropriate, and we look at the business risk of each of the two divisions of OPG.  And for the hydro division we assess the business risk as low to moderate, and for the nuclear division we agree with the Board in the previous hearing that the risk is higher, and we assess it as moderate.

And based on those conclusions, we come up with a recommended number for the capital structure, which I am going to talk about in response to a comment with respect to the interrogatories.

MR. ALEXANDER:  So I think the interrogatory you're referring to is the -- is your response to OPG Interrogatory No. 19?

DR. ROBERTS:  Correct.

MR. ALEXANDER:  So if you could turn to tab 9 of Exhibit K12.4, the OPG cross-examination reference book; do you have that?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And this appears to be a copy of the response to interrogatory 19 which was filed as Exhibit M, tab 10.15, schedule 19 and has three pages.  Do you have that?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes, I do.

MR. ALEXANDER:  So what is your -- how does this interrogatory relate to your recommendation?

DR. ROBERTS:  This interrogatory raises the question of what would be the best way to weight the individual divisions in forming capital structures that are consistent with the overall 47 percent as mandated by the Board.

In our original evidence, we had weighted it by power production.  We have now agreed that a better way of doing it is to weight it by the assets on the balance sheets of each of the divisions.  And in response to that interrogatory, we update the weights and we update the credit metrics.

But the point that is relevant here, we find that the equity ratio of 43 percent for hydro and 53 percent for nuclear would be the most appropriate in order to end up with the 47 percent using the best weighting system.

MR. ALEXANDER:  So just so I am clear, your recommendation is 43 percent and 53 percent, then?

DR. ROBERTS:  That's correct.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And just for clarity for the Board, you referred to the credit metrics, and I presume those are attached as attachments 1 through 4 to the -- to the response to OPG number 19, Exhibit M, tab 10.15, schedule 19?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes, that's right.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Now, you are aware that Ms. McShane had prefiled evidence in this proceeding and already testified on Tuesday and today; correct?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes, we are.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And you had an opportunity to review her evidence, including the transcripts from her testimony on Tuesday, which, for the record, was volume 11, October 26th, 2010, as well as listen to her evidence this morning?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  That's correct.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And what views, if any, do you have on Ms. McShane's evidence?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Well, I guess I find it a bit odd that you can use a heuristic approach to calculate the capital structure for OPG in total, but you can't do it for the parts.

I mean, it is very much a judgmental process.  There is no formula that you use for calculating capital structure for OPG.

DR. ROBERTS:  And picking up on that point, we understand, Ms. McShane, that there could be some problems because it is hard to get a robust, precise answer, and we don't disagree with that, because any answer for a capital structure in any hearing that we've participated in, in the end comes down to judgment.

And in our evidence -- I won't repeat it -- there is a whole section that explains why there is not a precise formula for capital structure.

But in any area of judgment, any type of estimate, there is always going to be an error.

We think the major error is one that would occur if you have one number for both divisions, because of the misallocation of resources issue, and the lack of transparency that the Board indicated in its last decision.

So therefore we think it is -- Ms. McShane is -- we can't agree with Ms. McShane, and in our opinion it is better to estimate separate rates, separate capital structures, even if they're not going to be totally precise, because that error and the mistakes that might occur based on the -- having the actual separate capital structures is going to be smaller than the error that would occur by lumping the two parts together.

If I could just very quickly make an analogy, it is like a medical test.  We go for a medical test.  Any medical test, there is a risk that you might get a false positive, that you then might have to go for more tests, and Be scared.  But as I understand it, the tests are designed that way, because the risk of a false positive is:  Yes, I have to go for another test, then be scared.  The risk of a false negative is far worse, that I may have a very serious life-threatening disease that won't be discovered.

Our point is any kind of a metric is going to have error.  We think there is a lot more error in sticking with just one number, and that is why we disagree with Ms. McShane.

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  I think another analogy is if you look at exchange rates between the U.S. and Canada.  When the exchange rates are really close, you don't have to worry about the difference.  But when there is quite a difference, you don't want to use the same rate.  You don't want to pretend that there is no difference.

MR. ALEXANDER:  I will -- I presume that is all of the views on Ms. McShane's evidence you have at this time?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes.  There are more technical things, but we wanted to keep it short at this time.

MR. ALEXANDER:  I presume your recommendations regarding the capital structure is still the same, then; correct?  Is that fair?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Yes, they are.

MR. ALEXANDER:  So moving on to a different area, one thing that's been talked about in the evidence is Monte Carlo simulations and discount rates.  That's been talked about at length in this proceeding for a bit.

Have you seen the evidence and some of the discussions that have occurred from the transcripts regarding that topic?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Yes, I have.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Could you please -- it might be helpful to explain what exactly is a Monte Carlo simulation, and how it works.  And it might also be helpful to explain your background with Monte Carlo simulations, as well.

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  One of my first papers a long time ago -- it was published in 1972 -- dealt with Monte Carlo for capital expenditure evaluation.

And I have been doing that ever since.  Of course, now it is a lot more sophisticated than back there, because to run it on the computer then, we would use a mainframe and it would take a couple of days to do it.  Now we can do it on a small PC.

Let me sort of explain what it is, because I think it is a concept not well understood by a lot of people.

Basically what happens is you have a lot of inputs.  So if you are looking at valuations, you might have cost inputs, you have discount rate inputs, et cetera.

And it is very much forward-looking.  So what you do is you form a distribution for each of the inputs.

And for people not in statistics, that is not a nice concept, when you start talking about distributions.  But to give you a simple example that everybody is exposed to, you hear poll results.  You know, the Conservatives have a 40 percent -- people are going to vote for them 40 percent, and they say it is a margin of plus or minus 2 percent, 19 times out of 20.  And 19 times out of 20, if you multiply both numbers by five, you get 95 out of 100.

So what it means is that if you go from 40 minus 2 percent, to 40 plus 2 percent, you'd cover 95 percent of the possibilities.

And in statistical language, that's -- that's two standard deviations.

Now, another way of looking at it is to look at a bell.  If you look at a bell near the middle, it has a lot of mass.  And then as you move away from the middle, you go to the tails.  And just like if you look at the height of the bell, that is like looking at the probabilities of different values.

And what usually you try to do with Monte Carlo is you try to get the proper distribution.  Some people use a nice, normal distribution.  But typically for a lot of things, you have to worry about the tails.

In other words, it might be a -- very much a big left tail, or a big right tail.  And typically with tails, people underestimate the tails.  If you look at a lot of the financial problems during the credit crisis, it was caused by the fact that when people used simulation or Monte Carlo, they did a really poor job in terms of looking at tail exposure, sometimes referred to as "black swan".

Now, when you think about it, you are making distributions going forward.  You are trying to figure out all of the different possibilities.

Now, that's fairly easy going one year forward, going two years forward, but beyond that, it gets really difficult.  Think about five years forward, 10 years forward, 15 years forward.

And it is very much based on judgment.  For most of the inputs to get the distributions, it is strictly judgmental.

So again, I find it inconsistent to say that you can use judgment for getting inputs for Monte Carlo, but you can't do that for determining the capital structure for hydro and nuclear for the next one or two years.

So there's some inconsistency there.

And one of the inputs is the discount rate.  And essentially, it also has a distribution.  So what you want to do is capture the variability, how wide the distribution is.

And typically, what you would like to do is use risk-adjusted discount rates, and reflect the variability in those discount rates.

MR. ALEXANDER:  So just to follow up that point, what views do you have, if any, regarding what we've had in the evidence, either in testimony or in interrogatories or in OPG's application, regarding Monte Carlo simulations and the discount rate?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  It's really hard to follow the evidence, because in some places I read that they've covered 90 percent of the distribution.  Somewhere else it says the whole distribution.  I am not sure what they mean by the whole distribution.

Are they looking at extreme values?  Are they looking at black swan-type of occurrences?

If you look at nuclear, based on past experience, you see some major cost overruns in different areas.  So those are black swan occurrences, and if you are only looking at 90 or 95 percent of the distribution, then you are not really looking well at the extreme cases.

And another thing I would point out, if you look at risk management, when corporations do risk management, they concentrate on the lower one, one and a half, two percent of the distribution.  Okay?  It's a small area of the distribution, but if things go wrong, you can have a major impact.

The other major problem that, again, it is really hard to tell how they've done it, I am not sure if they really reflect different interrelationships, both across time and across different scenarios.

Typically, the way we deal with that is we work with different scenarios, because if one cost is high, since there is a systematic factor, other costs are likely to be high.

And also there is persistence in a lot of these variables.

So in my research now, I use what is called a block bootstrap procedure, that looks -- that incorporates persistence in terms of the analysis.

So this is really important, because if you don't get it right, then basically there might be a misallocation of resources, and I think everyone agrees that, on average, nuclear is more risky than hydro.

MR. ALEXANDER:  So what is your view, if any, of how that would impact the discount rate?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  You need a higher discount rate for nuclear.

MR. ALEXANDER:  If I can move on to another area that I have been asking questions about, both to panel 6 and to panel 8, I have been asking about how the markets would perceive the Darlington refurbishment project relative to the Bruce restart project.

You are aware that that topic has come up, and you have read the evidence about that regard?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes, we are.

MR. ALEXANDER:  So rather than take you through all of the steps, I think I will cut right to the chase on this.

Do you believe that the market would perceive the Darlington project as a higher risk than the Bruce restart project under the following scenarios, and I will give you two scenarios and we will deal with them one at a time --


MR. SMITH:  I will register an objection to this.  Unless my friend can point to it in the evidence in-chief, I don't believe this topic is dealt with.

MR. ALEXANDER:  This topic was directed to Ms. McShane.  This was something that came up and she gave her opinion on it.

I think the Board would benefit from hearing Dr. Kryzanowski's and Dr. Roberts's opinion on this.

MR. SMITH:  Well, certainly my friend is entitled to put matters to Ms. McShane that isn't in his own client's prefiled evidence, but that doesn't mean that he can, then, lead the evidence-in-chief.  He is required to provide notice of it in the prefiled evidence.

MS. CHAPLIN:  One minute.

[Board Panel confers]

MS. CHAPLIN:  The Board agrees with OPG on this point.  Please proceed.


MR. ALEXANDER:  Well, I believe that covers the topics I intended to cover in my examination-in-chief.  Do either of you, Dr. Kryzanowski or Dr. Roberts, have anything else that you would like to add?

DR. ROBERTS:  No, we have nothing to add.  Thank you.

MR. ALEXANDER:  I think your microphones got turned off.

DR. ROBERTS:  No, we have nothing to add.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Thank you, Dr. Kryzanowski.  Thank you, Dr. Roberts.  That concludes my examination-in-chief, subject to any questions the Board may have.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Mr. Poch.

MR. POCH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Poch:

MR. POCH:  Just a couple of questions of clarification, gentlemen, probably for you, Dr. Kryzanowski, because it has to do with the Monte Carlo simulation.

Assuming OPG did capture the full details when they put their risk judgments about the five or six factors they broke out into their Monte Carlo analysis, would it be double counting risk to then do as you suggest, which is put a risk-specific discount rate in to their analysis?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  No.  I would use a risk adjusted discount rate for nuclear projects, and a different risk adjusted rate for hydro projects.

MR. POCH:  All right.  And just to be clear, that wouldn't double count the risks they have captured in their modelling already?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Basically, they have already got a risk adjusted rate based on overall risk.

MR. POCH:  Okay.  And Ms. McShane, in fact, a couple of times in the record, most recently in response to questions from the Board, referred to a constraint she felt was active here, which was that to achieve the Board's deemed capital structure and equity for the combined entity, we could only go so far pushing up the nuclear equity thickness, because we can only go so far pushing down the hydraulic equity thickness.  And she cited this 45 percent number, which she estimated was perhaps the limit for hydraulic.  Did you hear that evidence?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Yes, we did.  I guess my first reaction was, if she could specify 45 percent and she also has 47 percent, why couldn't she calculate capital structure for both parts?

MR. POCH:  Let me see if I understand that.  Are you saying that -- well, let me ask you this.

Ms. McShane had earlier said she couldn't -- didn't have a data set for stand-alone hydraulic or nuclear.  Is that the contrast you are drawing?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Yes.  I would like to know where the 45 came from if you can't do it.

MR. POCH:  Right.  One final question, then.

If we conclude that a higher equity thickness for nuclear is appropriate and fair -- would be a fair return for the nuclear division, and if we assume that the Board's combined numbers are a fair return, is it simply a matter of straightforward math that, therefore, the number that spills out of the analysis for the hydraulic would -- must be fair?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Well, again, you are working with approximations.  So it is going to be, like anything else, approximately fair.

MR. POCH:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.

I know Board Staff have some questions.  Do any of the other parties?  I know OPG has questions, but I'm just checking.  Okay.  Mr. Millar.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Michael Millar.  I will be very brief.

Gentlemen, were you here earlier today when I asked some questions of OPG?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  We were.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I am going to put some similar questions to you just to get your thoughts on it.  And just to refresh your memories, I asked some questions about long-term debt rates.

To set it up, obviously your report suggests that there should be separate equity thicknesses for nuclear and hydro on account of the different risk profiles of those businesses; is that correct?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  But you are not proposing any other differences in the cost of capital as between hydro and nuclear?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  We didn't, but we alluded to the fact that the debt rates would probably be different.  That's another step that one could take.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So I will put the question directly to you, then.  To the extent that long-term debt instruments can be assigned separately to nuclear and hydro, in your view, should we assign different long-term debt rates to nuclear and hydro, if you can do that exercise?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  If you could do the exercise?  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And I take it you would find that to be consistent with your view on -- as you expressed in your report; in other words, looking kind of on a stand-alone principle, nuclear versus hydro, and allocating the costs appropriately?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  No further questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Smith:

MR. SMITH:  Good afternoon, gentlemen.  My name is Crawford Smith.  I act for OPG.

I have just a couple of general questions for you to begin with.  Can I ask you to turn to tab 3 of the cross-examination booklet that was provided to you, K12.4?  And this is your transcript from a cross-examination the last go-round by my former colleague, Mr. Penny.  Do you have that?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes, we do.

MR. SMITH:  Can I ask you to turn to page 57, please?  And at the top of the page, line 5, he asks you -- or line 6:
"You agree that the capital structure for OPG should be determined on the stand-alone principle, meaning we must set aside the impact of provincial ownership?"

Do you see that?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you agree with that?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes, I did then and I still do.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  As I understand it, you also agree or accept the fair return standard as articulated by the Supreme Court of Canada?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And that, you can find at page 116 of the transcript, beginning at line 4, and you were asked:

"Do you accept that the fair-return standard, as articulated by the Supreme Court of Canada, requires that the utility shall be allowed as large a return on the capital invested in its ownership as it would receive if it were investing the same amount in other securities possessing an attractiveness, stability and certainty equal to that of the company's enterprise?"

Do you see that?

DR. ROBERTS:  We do.

MR. SMITH:  And you accepted that then, and you accept it now?

DR. ROBERTS:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  So the implication of what we have just discussed, as I understand it, is that whether OPG is owned by the province or a private investor, OPG should receive the fair-return standard, whatever that might be?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  It shouldn't receive some lesser number because its shareholder happens to be the province?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Now, obviously we have been looking at your transcript.  You testified in OPG's last payments case.

I take it you are familiar with the decision that came out of that case?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  There are just a few matters arising from that decision I want to confirm with you.

So if you have the book, again, and turn to tab 4, please, I take it you reviewed this decision prior to preparing your evidence in this case?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes, we did.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Now, the Board, as I understand it, considered the question of whether or not there should be separate costs of capital for the regulated nuclear and regulated hydroelectric businesses the last go-round?

DR. ROBERTS:  They did.

MR. SMITH:  And the position, as I understand it, that you have articulated with respect to asset allocation and the feedback loop, as you described it, Dr. Kryzanowski, was also advanced the last go-round; correct?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  That was a small part of our evidence, yes.

MR. SMITH:  And as I understand it, if you look at page 159, your client, Pollution Probe -- and this is at the bottom of the page -- submitted that separate capital structures should be established for the regulated hydro and regulated nuclear businesses.

Do you recall that?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Yes.

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And they did so on the basis that your evidence should be accepted, as you had, in fact, determined separate capital structures as part of your analysis.

Do you see that at the bottom of page 159?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes.  Yes, we do.

MR. SMITH:  And in fact, you had done that the last go-round.  You had prepared separate capital structure recommendations for the hydroelectric business and the nuclear business; correct?

DR. ROBERTS:  And also –- yes, we did -- and also a combined recommendation for the whole company.

MR. SMITH:  That's fair enough.  And --


DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Which I believe the Board adopted.

MR. SMITH:  True.  The Board did set the overall equity thickness at 47 percent.  The Board did not set separate capital structures.

You are aware of that?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes, we are.

MR. SMITH:  And the Board found that the evidence in that case was not sufficiently robust to set separate cost of capital parameters.  And you will see that on page 160, at the bottom.

The Board indicates that:

"The Board also finds that the evidence in this proceeding is not sufficiently robust to set separate parameters at this time."

Do you see that?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  We do.

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And the Board did go on to say, on the next page, on page 161, that it was "an approach worthy of further investigation."  Do you see that?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And I take it you would agree with me that what the Board was indicating in this passage was that it was expecting something by way of investigation incremental to what had been before it the last go-round?

DR. ROBERTS:  The Board said it was not sufficiently robust, and they also noted that we had recommended separate capital structures, but concluded with a combined recommendation.

MR. SMITH:  Well, let's just be clear about this point, though.

Your recommendation the last time -- and we will come to it -- was 40 percent hydro, 50 percent nuclear; correct?

DR. ROBERTS:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And that was, until your interrogatories, your recommendation in this proceeding; correct?

DR. ROBERTS:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And the Board said, the last go-round, that the evidence was not sufficiently robust; correct?

DR. ROBERTS:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And it also said "further investigation" so the proposition I am putting to you is the Board wasn't saying:  Try it again.  They were saying:  Further investigation, and we'll look at it.

Do you agree with that?

DR. ROBERTS:  What it says on page 161:  "Further investigation".

MR. SMITH:  So just while we are on page 161, just a couple of other propositions for you.

You also understood that the Board expected that the same ROE would be applicable to both types of generation?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes, we did.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And you also understood from that that the approach would not alter the overall cost of capital for OPG's prescribed facilities?

DR. ROBERTS:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And what we're talking about there, as I understand it, is the total dollars arising from OPG's weighted average cost of capital would remain the same?

DR. ROBERTS:  That's right.

MR. SMITH:  And as I understand it, when we're talking about the dollars arising from the weighted average cost of capital, we're talking about applying the equity thickness -- whatever it might be -- to the rate base for the prescribed facilities?

DR. ROBERTS:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  So no matter what, OPG shouldn't be out dollars as a result of technology-specific cost of capital?

DR. ROBERTS:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  I am going to put a proposition to you, and that proposition is that the analysis that you employed this time is the same as the analysis you employed the last go-round.

Do you accept that?

DR. ROBERTS:  One moment, please.

MR. SMITH:  Maybe I can help you out.  If you turn to tab 1 of your -- of my booklet, and specifically to page 39 -- do you have that?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  And if you look at the bottom of page 39, we have section 5.3.1:  "Framework for analysis."

Do you see that?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And this, as I understand it, is really the guts of the matter.  This is where you set out:  This is the methodology we're going to employ; correct?

DR. ROBERTS:  That's right.

MR. SMITH:  And if I look at tab 2, which was your evidence the last go-round -- and this is maybe a little bit tricky to do -- but if you go to page 29, which is five pages in –-

DR. ROBERTS:  I have page 29.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And you will see there a section that begins:  "Framework for analysis".

DR. ROBERTS:  Indeed.

MR. SMITH:  And indeed, if you look at that first paragraph there, it says "Our assessment of business risk."  Do you see that?

DR. ROBERTS:  Indeed I do.

MR. SMITH:  And that paragraph is identical to the paragraph under 5.3.1 this time around, now found on page 40 at tab 1?

DR. ROBERTS:  Okay.  So I can answer the question, and shall I or...

MR. SMITH:  Well, it just occurred to me that it would be the same, because I think, with one exception, every paragraph under that section 5.3.1 is the same.

DR. ROBERTS:  Okay.  Well, if you want to point out a few other things, I won't interrupt you.  Then I would be happy to answer the question.

MR. SMITH:  The question simply is that the framework you employed is identical this time as the methodology or framework you used the last time; correct?

DR. ROBERTS:  Right.  Well, in answer to that question, may I refer you, Mr. Smith, to page 33 and tab 1.

MR. SMITH:  You may if it is responsive to my question.

DR. ROBERTS:  It is, because I think the answer to the question is there, where it says "Overview of this section" and the first sentence -- first two sentences, I think, address your question, where we say:

"This section updates and extends our discussion of capital structure for each type of OPG's regulated assets, originally presented in our evidence in EB-2007-0905.  Following this same outline, we begin with a brief overview."

So I think what we're trying to say here is we took the same approach.  We updated it, and we extended it by adding some additional analysis.

MR. SMITH:  Well --


DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  I guess I could even extend in terms of that.  It is the same approach we used for OPG, and it is the same approach we use for other utilities.  So if you can use it for other utilities, there is no reason you can't use it for a division of a utility.

MR. SMITH:  I am not surprised to hear you say that, and I am sure you are referring to your testimony in Alberta, and we will come to that.  But the bottom line is that the framework that you employ in ultimately reaching your conclusion, which is the nine-part scoring method, is the same as the framework you used the last time; correct?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes.  It says so right here.  What is new is that we updated it and extended it by adding some additional metrics within that framework.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  So we are going to go over that, but, as I understand it, your framework -- well, let me just drill down on your conclusions.

The conclusions the last time around were 40 percent hydro, 50 percent nuclear; correct?

DR. ROBERTS:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And your conclusions in your prefiled evidence were 40 percent hydro, 50 percent nuclear?

DR. ROBERTS:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  And the only reason we are at 43 and 53 is a result of an interrogatory where it was pointed out that allocating by production weighting would leave OPG some dollars short and result in an overall equity thickness of 44 percent as opposed to 47 percent; correct?

DR. ROBERTS:  That's correct.  We're not here to try to prove our -- massage our ego, but to try to come up with evidence that would be most helpful.  When we saw that, we realized it was a better way to doing it and that's why we made the change.

MR. SMITH:  But there was no additional analysis, in terms of assessment of risk, business risk, or change in your framework, that prompted the change from 40 to 43, was there?  It was the recognition that if you stuck to the same numbers, OPG would be short; correct?  That's right, isn't it?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  That's correct.  The 47 percent is given.  We may feel that the global percentage might be different, but the 47 percent is a given.

MR. SMITH:  Now, the last time, as I understand it, you reached a conclusion that the hydro weighting applying your matrix was 1.8; is that correct?

DR. ROBERTS:  I believe it is, yes.

MR. SMITH:  And that continues to be your view?

DR. ROBERTS:  In terms of the risk rating, yes, I believe that's right.

MR. SMITH:  And then for nuclear the last go-round, it was I believe 2.3, and now it is 2.6.  But your overall ratings have really moved from just 2.1 to 2.3.  Have I understood that correctly?

DR. ROBERTS:  The last thing that you said in terms of nuclear is correct, that we did make an adjustment there based on the decision that the Board made in terms of not allowing fixed payments.  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  I take it you agree with the general proposition that transmission carries the lowest risk?

DR. ROBERTS:  We do.

MR. SMITH:  Followed by distribution, and then by generation?

DR. ROBERTS:  We do.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And I take it you agree that looking at OPG hydro, that its business risks are above those of transmission, distribution and integrated utilities?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes.  That's what it says in our evidence.

MR. SMITH:  And if we look at schedule 5.1, maybe this is the reference you're thinking of, 5.1 of your evidence, which I believe is found on page 85.

DR. ROBERTS:  Right.

MR. SMITH:  Or pages 84 and 85.  Do you have that?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  So this is where it shows transmission at 1.0, distribution at 1.4, hydro at 1.8 and integrated at 1.5?

DR. ROBERTS:  Right.  There is another page there, as well.

MR. SMITH:  The next page over, it goes to nuclear, which shows that nuclear is higher than hydro, in your assessment?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes, right.

MR. SMITH:  I don't doubt that is your view.

Just so I understand how the framework works, each of the various categories is assigned a whole number, 1 through 5.  So low is 1, low to moderate is 2, moderate is 3, moderate to high is 4, and high is 5.  That's the way it works; right?

DR. ROBERTS:  In the initial inputs, yes.

MR. SMITH:  And so you take the nine categories.  You take the numbers.  You add them up and divide by nine to get either 1.0, 1.4, 1.8 or 1.5?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes.  In this case, that's what we do; correct.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Just as I understand it, then, so the higher the number, the higher the business risk, and the higher the business risk, the higher the equity thickness?

DR. ROBERTS:  Correct.  Although we haven't got to the equity thickness, that is how it is going to work, yes.

MR. SMITH:  That's how it all translates?

DR. ROBERTS:  Correct.

MR. SMITH:  What we're talking about is a situation here, like in Alberta and Ontario, where you are adjusting not the ROE.  You are adjusting for business risks through capital structure?

DR. ROBERTS:  That's right.

MR. SMITH:  You are aware, of course, there are jurisdictions like British Columbia where they don't do that?

DR. ROBERTS:  That's correct.  I think also in Prince Edward Island, if I remember correctly.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  And in those cases, if we're looking at capital structure, obviously we would have to have regard to the ROE, because there may be business risk reflected in both the ROE and the capital structure; correct?

DR. ROBERTS:  Well, if I may comment, we certainly recognize that that is the case.  Exactly how -- how you would implement it is another question.  As we heard Ms. McShane say earlier today, there are issues of theory that can't be clearly implemented in practice.  And, in our opinion, this would be one of them.

So if you tell me that one jurisdiction adjusted the ROE and the capital structure, and another just adjusted the capital structure, in theory, there should be some translation there from part of the effect went into ROE and part went into capital structure.  But, in practice, we don't have a formula to do that.

So that is why we -- one reason why we didn't do it here.

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  In fact, that would require more judgment.

MR. SMITH:  The question, though, is:  If we're looking at those utilities, we should be careful using them as a comparator?  You agree with that, certainly?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes.  Perhaps the next time we might put in a note that we're doing it this way, but we just have to be aware of that fact.  It was sort of a subtext.

MR. SMITH:  Now that you have been cross-examined on this issue twice, I doubt you will need a footnote, but there you have it.

The rankings, those are relative rankings.  So, that is, utilities with the same score, at least if we're in Ontario and Alberta, utilities with the same score should have the same equity thickness?

DR. ROBERTS:  Utilities with the same score in Alberta?

MR. SMITH:  Well, if I have a utility -- I'll give you an example.  If I have a utility at 1.4 and I have another utility at 1.4, I would expect, using this analysis, that they would have the same equity thickness, because they have the same business risk on your matrix; correct?

DR. ROBERTS:  Well, a two-part answer, if I may.  We're using it as a guide, not a precise formula.  So there could be some difference.  Secondly, Mr. Smith, as you just reminded me yourself, there is an effect of ROE that we didn't make clear.  So it might well be the regulators in Ontario and the regulators in Alberta have set their ROEs at a different number.

So we necessarily say that the same business risk measure translates into the same capital structure.

MR. SMITH:  Well, sir, I must say I find that hard to see how that could be the case, because, as I understand your evidence, what you said is that business risk in Ontario and Alberta is adjusted entirely through changes in capital structure.

So as I understand your evidence now and in your evidence in your prefiled, in fact, you criticize Ms. McShane for looking at ROE, because you say it is irrelevant.

And, indeed, you use a number of Alberta comparators, do you not, in your benchmark?

So certainly to use them as a benchmark, we must be able to say if you score one way or the same way on your relative risk, we would expect the capital structure to be the same?

DR. ROBERTS:  I will avoid -- in the interests of avoiding bogging down, I think we could agree that we would expect the capital structure to be in a similar range, everything else held equal, if that would help you.

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  These are all noisy estimates.  That's why we use a number of different procedures.

MR. SMITH:  And that's why, I guess, you would say it is an exercise in qualitative judgment, and reasonable people can disagree?

DR. ROBERTS:  That's correct.  And in our evidence -- I can point you to it if you wish -- there are quotes from this Board and from the Commission in Alberta saying just that, that it is a matter of judgment and that is how they determined the capital structure.

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  I would also point out that if the parties agree that nuclear is more risky than hydro, then if you fix the return on equity, then the capital structures have to be different.

MR. SMITH:  Well, I guess my -- the question I wanted to ask you was whether somebody else -- and I take it you would agree with this -- where someone else applies your matrix, they could very easily come up with a different result that would still fall within a zone of reasonableness.

You would agree with that prospect, I take it?

DR. ROBERTS:  Certainly.  We are professors, and we have to admit to our students that if we mark a number of papers blind and then we went back and re-marked the same papers another day, there might be a small variation, like plus or minus 5 percent, among reasonable people.  But I wouldn't expect to see a big variation if it was done properly.

The same would apply here.

MR. SMITH:  And you have equally weighted the various categories, but somebody else might weight them somewhat differently?

DR. ROBERTS:  It's possible.

MR. SMITH:  Now, I wanted to return to, I suppose, your evidence-in-chief, and maybe what you will tell me is this is no longer your position based -- or your prefiled, and maybe you will tell me this is no longer your position based on your examination-in-chief.

But you are aware that in Ontario, electricity distributors have a deemed equity ratio of 40 percent?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And I take it, by looking at page 84 of your prefiled evidence, that if we look at the score of 1.4 for distribution and the score for OPG hydro of 1.8, that what we should have expected in your prefiled evidence was there would be a difference in your capital structure recommendation for hydro.

Do you agree with that?

DR. ROBERTS:  And there is a difference.  In our recommendation, the 40 percent that you are referring to is not our recommendation, but rather the decision of the Board.

MR. SMITH:  So you're saying that it is -- well, let me ask the question this way.

Are you saying, then, that utilities that are the subject of decisions from various boards are not benchmark comparables?

DR. ROBERTS:  As my colleague said -- and he may want to help me -- there are a number of benchmarks.  And what we -- one benchmark is what the regulators have decided, and this Board has decided in previous cases, and what other regulators have decided.

There are several other benchmarks that we give in our report.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And what are the other benchmarks that you use?

DR. ROBERTS:  Okay.  The other benchmarks are the actual capital structures of utility holding companies that are traded.

One is the one we just mentioned, the allowed returns -– sorry, allowed capital structures by regulators.

And a third one would be the returns –- sorry, capital structures that were allowed in other cases that we identified as higher-risk, and I think that we looked at there as ATCO Pipelines, as an example.

And we also look, as you will recall, at the capital structures that we ourselves recommended in other cases, because we knew you would be asking us about them.  So we thought it would be helpful just to put them there in the report up front.

We looked at all of those benchmarks in forming our recommendation.

MR. SMITH:  I guess maybe I was confused.  I looked at your schedule 5.3, and I see a number of -- a number of utilities listed there, including ATCO and others, and you come out with a common equity average ratio there of 40 percent.

And I thought, from reading your evidence, that you were using these as benchmarks, and it occurred to me one of the things that was not there were -- was this Board's decision relating to the electricity distribution companies.

Are these not benchmarks that we should be looking at?

DR. ROBERTS:  Certainly.  I am just thinking -- I think there is a summary discussion of these benchmarks that might help us in saving time.

I think on page 61 of our evidence, there is a discussion of the different benchmarks that we use and with comments on each one.  I could certainly go through that if you would find it helpful.

MR. SMITH:  Well, I suppose, no, in that the very first one is schedule 5.3, so if my friend has some –- well, I guess -- let me ask you this.

On page 62 you -- after identifying a number of utilities -- you use the words in the second paragraph, you say:  "This average equity ratio is generous."

Do you see that?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes, I do.

MR. SMITH:  You used those words again in your examination in-chief.  This is an argument you advanced the last time, is it not?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes, it is.

MR. SMITH:  And of course, subsequent to the last case, the Board released its cost-of-capital report.  You are aware of that?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And in that cost-of-capital report, the Board set the capital structure for electricity distribution companies at 40 percent.

You were aware of that, as well?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And this is an argument that you, again, advanced in Alberta; isn't that correct?

DR. ROBERTS:  It is correct.  It is an argument that we believe in, and I believe it finds its way into our evidence in every case.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  And so --


DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  And when we look at performance of utilities, we find that that is one of the groups that gives investors free lunches.

MR. SMITH:  I think it is fair to say -- and maybe you will tell me if I am wrong -– but I think it is fair to say that your overall view is that utilities make too much money?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  We're like CSI; we let the data do the talking.  We don't have any preconceptions in terms of that.

And when you look at the data and you look at the performance, utilities are supposed to be low-risk and they get returns that are as high or sometimes even higher than the market return.

MR. SMITH:  I guess I was thinking of it this way, sir.  I will get the interrogatory if you need it.  But my recollection from reading the evidence is that almost without exception, boards have set capital structure and ROEs above the recommendation you have made in the proceedings.

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes.  And the point, if I may, just to explain about the "generous" argument, is that almost without exception, boards have set capital structure below the recommendations of witnesses who appeared on behalf of utilities.

MR. SMITH:  Now, can I ask you to turn to tab 7, please?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes, we have it.

MR. SMITH:  This is your evidence in the Alberta generic proceeding, is it not?

DR. ROBERTS:  It appears to be an excerpt from our evidence.  I think our evidence was a little bit longer than these four pages.

MR. SMITH:  Yes, sir.  It was a little bit longer than that.  In fact, we are looking at page 120 is the second page in.  It is, again, your reference to the "generous" comment.

But I am interested in the last page, page 359.

Do you have that?

DR. ROBERTS:  Page 359?  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And as I understand it, this was a generic proceeding that set the cost of capital, and that -- including the capital structure for a number of utilities in Alberta.

Obviously, you are aware of that?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes, it was.

MR. SMITH:  And with respect to ATCO Pipelines in particular, as I understand it, it was set at 45 percent by that board; that's correct?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes.  I believe that is right.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  So there are no numbers ascribed to your schedule 2.4, but I wanted to go down to make sure that I was doing this right.

So if you look at ATCO Pipelines Transmission status quo -- and we put in rankings or numbers for each of those.  Would I be right, then, that we have five, one, three, and then you skip over the top part -- five, one, three, two, one, two, one, one, one?

DR. ROBERTS:  You are looking at the individual ones, not the summary.  So competition, credit supply, operating, leverage technology and so forth?

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. SMITH:  If I add those up, I get -- I think I get 17.

DR. ROBERTS:  Okay.  Subject to check.

MR. SMITH:  And if I divide that by nine, I get by rounding 1.9?

DR. ROBERTS:  Okay, subject to check, yes, that would be reasonable.  1.9 would be in the low end or in the medium range, yes.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.

DR. ROBERTS:  I just would point out the difference here is we're using qualitative, low, medium, high, as opposed to numbers, but it is the same system.

MR. SMITH:  It is exactly the same system.  You just haven't put in the numbers.

DR. ROBERTS:  Okay.

MR. SMITH:  And if we compare that to hydro, we do the exact same thing and we get 16 instead of 17; right?  And that translates to 1.8?

DR. ROBERTS:  1.8 is what we had for hydro.  1.8 is what we had for hydro, yes.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  This is where I was coming from, and I will just come right out and say it.  I looked at this, and this is where I had the problem.

If 1.9 equals 45 percent, I guess I was having trouble understanding why 1.8 equalled 40 percent.

DR. ROBERTS:  Perhaps I can help you.  The reason is you have to ask one more question.  When you say that a given level of risk equals a certain capital structure, the next question I would ask is:  Who says that?

MR. SMITH:  I thought you did.

DR. ROBERTS:  Well, what we say in our report is not that.  We say is that there are a number of benchmarks.  So that while it is true that a utility, namely ATCO Pipelines, which got a rating of 1.9 in our risk rating, received a capital structure award from the Commission in Alberta of 45 percent, our recommendation was for 42 percent, okay?

So that if you ask the Commission, they -- that's where this idea of generous that we were talking about a few minutes ago comes from.  They said it was 45 percent.  We said it was 42 percent, which is quite close to the number that we recommended for OPG.  So I don't see a disconnect.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  But certainly you accept that if we were to decide or view that the Alberta Board had made a good decision, a fair decision, in that circumstance that the 1.9, which equals 45 percent, should translate for hydro OPG, which is one number away, to something pretty close to 45.  Surely, you agree with that?

[Witness panel confers]

DR. ROBERTS:  Well, a couple of comments.  I won't repeat what I said before about generosity.  It stands on the record.  We said the Alberta Commission was fair, on the generous side, and, secondly, we have to -- just backing off for a minute, these numbers are a guide.  They're a qualitative measure.

We use them and we find them useful, but you can't quibble about 1.8 versus 1.9, because it is similar to the comments that my colleague made about Monte Carlo analysis.  The output is only as good as the input, and the input is estimated.  It is a judgment call.  So we cannot push the numbers quite that far.

MR. SMITH:  Well, the numbers have to mean something.

DR. ROBERTS:  They do.

MR. SMITH:  And as I understood your evidence, at least as it was prefiled, you had hydro at 1.8, which equals 40, which is the same as distribution companies at 1.4, and is lower than ATCO Pipelines, which is at 1.9, which is at 45 percent.

So I was having trouble understanding how these numbers actually translated, sir, into capital structure in some meaningful way.

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Again, as we keep pointing out, this is not a mathematical formula.  I mean, this is judgmental.

So you've got estimation here for each of the numbers.  So if you've got a one difference, you can't really say that's a material difference.

MR. SMITH:  No, but that is exactly my point.  You were going from 1.8 to 1.9, and yet we have a 5 percent difference in capital structure.  I could understand it if your hydro recommendations, sir, were 44 percent initially.  Then it would make total sense to me, 1.8, 1.9; 44, 45.  That's fine.  It's all reasonable.  I get that.

What I don't understand is why you could be comfortable at hydro at 40 percent, at least initially, when the numbers are so snug.  That's why I am having trouble with this.

DR. ROBERTS:  Well, one way to try to help you with that would be to look at the exhibit - I am just turning it up here - on page 92 of our evidence, Exhibit 5.7, where you were talking about our evidence in the previous -- in the generic hearing, right, where we recommended capital structures for distribution that were lower than 40 percent.

So if you want to be consistent with our recommendation and regarding the decision about 40 percent as generous on the high side, we're saying we can benchmark that against the company - namely, OPG - that our numbers show are somewhat riskier than the distribution benchmark that you were talking about.

MR. SMITH:  I know that, sir.  But the Alberta Utilities Commission disagreed with you, and they said it set it at 45.  I am just pointing that out using your ranking system, you would get the same number, 45.  If you believe Alberta did the right -- had the right decision and if you believe this Board was right in its cost of capital report, the number has to be higher than 40 and it has to be pretty close to 45.

[Witness panel confers]

DR. ROBERTS:  Well...

MR. SMITH:  Why don't we just leave it?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  I think I have made the point, unless you have something to add.

[Witness panel confers]

DR. ROBERTS:  Well, I guess just to clarify, I think we covered this and I don't want to take up too much time.  The 45 that you were talking about for ATCO Pipelines, we had recommended 42 percent, which is, as I tried to explain earlier - perhaps not as clearly as possible - is higher than the 40 percent, because we identified that as a company that was riskier.

MR. SMITH:  Just moving to a different area, I had provided you earlier with a chart, and, members of the Board, I believe you should have copies.

It has -- it reads "Comparison After Tax Weighted Average Cost of Capital Resulting From Alternative Cost Capital Structures".  It looks like this.

MR. MILLAR:  That will be Exhibit K12.5.
EXHIBIT K12.5:  CHART ENTITLED "COMPARISON AFTER TAX WEIGHTED AVERAGE COST OF CAPITAL RESULTING FROM ALTERNATIVE COST CAPITAL STRUCTURES".

MR. SMITH:  It's two-sided.

MR. SMITH:  Do you have that?

MS. CHAPLIN:  We will shortly, I think.

MR. SMITH:  Did you have an opportunity to look at this over the lunch hour and subsequently?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes, we did.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  I just wanted to get some sense for the Board of the magnitude of the impact on the weighted average cost of capital by using separate capital structures.

So I want to start with the hydro debt-to-equity ratio at 55 -- well, let's actually -- sorry, let's just start at the top.

So if you look at 2011, have you had an opportunity to check the math here, and can you confirm it is accurate?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes, it is accurate.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  So just looking at the top line, "Composite 2011 OPG filed using Board's rates"; do you see that?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And so what is being done there is the debt component at 5.53 percent is being given a 53 percent weight, and then it is being tax-affected.

Do you see that?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  Then, of course, we are applying the Board equity rate of 9.85 to the 47 percent weighting.

Do you see that?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  For an after-tax weighted rate of 6.78 percent?

DR. ROBERTS:  Right.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And I think we can skip over
your -- the next group of figures, because this is no longer your recommendation, 40-50, as I understand it.

Then let's go down to the next one, which is hydro at 45 and nuclear at 50.

Just pausing there, if the overall weighted average cost of capital is at 47 percent for an equity thickness, and hydro is at 45, the math of it is that nuclear has to be 50, when you allocate it by -- when you allocate it out; correct?

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Correct.  We don't know where the 45 comes from.

MR. SMITH:  Well, I am not going to revisit the last few minutes, but the math of it is nuclear has to be 50; correct?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  It is just the weighted average.

DR. ROBERTS:  Right.

MR. SMITH:  I just wanted to make sure we're on the same page.  So if we move over to the right, what you get is an after-tax weighted rate, again, overall, of 6.78 percent.  Do you see that?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  We do see that.

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  And you see hydro at 6.66, so it is whatever that is, 0.12 percent lower than the composite rate.  Do you see that?

DR. ROBERTS:  Right.

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  We do, yes.

MR. SMITH:  And the nuclear at 6.96, or only 0.17 percent above the composite rate.  Do you see that?

DR. ROBERTS:  Mm-hmm.

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Mm-hmm.  Yes.

MR. SMITH:  I am going to suggest to you, I guess, two things.  Well, first let's observe with nuclear.  The 6.96 percent, I think we can all agree, is pretty close to seven?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  We can agree, yes.

MR. SMITH:  And I take it we can also agree that the differences we're talking about here, when you play it all the way through, are very, very small?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Well, 30 basis points is not small when you are talking about large amounts of money.

MR. SMITH:  Right.  So your evidence is that these are meaningful differences, sir?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Sure.  It could be you could be investing in a project that's not a good project, because you are using the wrong discount rate.

MR. SMITH:  But certainly on the nuclear side, there can't be any suggestion that they're using the wrong discount rate at 45 percent, if it is 6.96 percent?

You would agree with that?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Right.  But we don't agree with the 45-50.

MR. SMITH:  And I take it you would equally agree -- you are aware that when OPG runs its analysis, it runs it at 7 percent, plus or minus a whole percentage?  You are aware of that?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Right.

MR. SMITH:  So certainly on either side of the numbers we're talking about here?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  It makes a difference.  I mean, if you're using 7 percent for hydro and the rate should be lower, then that is biased against hydro.

MR. SMITH:  Are you aware of any project that would not have met -- that met a rate of 6.78 percent, but would not have met –- sorry, that would have met 6.66 percent, but not 6.78?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  We have not evaluated all of the projects of OPG.

MR. SMITH:  Certainly in your preparation today, there is nothing in the prefiled evidence that led you to conclude that there is a single project that would have led to some sort of misallocation?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  That doesn't mean that there wasn't.

MR. SMITH:  That wasn't exactly my question.

You are not aware of anything?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  That's correct.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And then just down at the bottom, this is, as I now understand it, just to confirm, your recommendation in this proceeding, 43-53; is that correct?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  That is correct.

DR. ROBERTS:  Mm-hmm.

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  And you can see the difference is quite a bit more, and if you reflect the differences in debt costs, the difference would even get bigger.

MR. SMITH:  And the differences in debt costs, that is not an analysis that you did, did you?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  No.  But we know in terms of directional.

MR. SMITH:  Sir, before I ask you another question, I will just confirm this.

There is nothing in your prefiled evidence that deals with a different debt rate, is there, for nuclear and hydro?

DR. ROBERTS:  No, there isn't.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  But we do mention that as a consideration.

MR. SMITH:  But there is no analysis in your report, is there?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  No.  Because --


DR. ROBERTS:  Because it wasn't part of the mandate that we were asked to examine.

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Right.

MR. SMITH:  I am not criticizing you for it; I am just saying there isn't any evidence.

DR. ROBERTS:  But we're just saying the fact we didn't put it in the report doesn't mean that we didn't have a view on it.  We didn't put it there because it wasn't part of the mandate.

However, in the hearing it has come up as a point for discussion.

MR. SMITH:  Those are my questions.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  I have nothing further.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Ms. Hare has some questions.
Further Questions by the Board:


MS. HARE:  Just a few quick questions.  I want to make sure I understand what you said, Dr. Kryzanowski.

When you said 47 percent is a given, why do you say that?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  It was my understanding that for the overall OPG, the equity thickness would be 47 percent.

MS. HARE:  That was the decision in the last payments case.  But if that didn't have to be the outcome in this case, would you still be recommending 43 and 53?

MR. SMITH:  Well --


MS. HARE:  Like, if the 47 is not a given, what would your recommendation be?

MR. SMITH:  With respect, I don't think that that is a fair question, having not asked the question of Ms. McShane, because Ms. McShane's recommendations in the prior proceeding were much different than an overall equity thickness --


MS. CHAPLIN:  Mr. Smith, you will be free to argue as you wish.  Ms. Hare, please continue with your questions.

MS. HARE:  So my question is:  What would your recommendation be for hydroelectric and nuclear if you were not constrained by the 47 percent?

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  Can we confer for a second?

MS. HARE:  Sure.

[Witness panel confers.]

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  We didn't do a lot of analysis in terms of that.  But I think we would stay with the 47 percent, because it is based on our analysis from last time, and we didn't see the risks changing that much.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  The Panel has no further questions.

Mr. Alexander, do you have any further questions?

MR. ALEXANDER:  Very briefly, I think, in redirect.
Re-Examination by Mr. Alexander:

MR. ALEXANDER:  Two areas I think I want to follow up on that came out up out of Mr. Smith's cross-examination.

If I could take you to page 61 of your - page 60 on from your evidence, which is section 5.6, "Equity ratios," Exhibit M, tab 10.

DR. ROBERTS:  Sixty-one, did you say?

MR. ALEXANDER:  The section I am referring to start at page 60, I but it may be page 61 that actually counts.

DR. ROBERTS:  Okay.  I have it.

MR. ALEXANDER:  Mr. Smith and you were engaged in a discussion about the benchmarks versus your recommendations versus the utility findings.

And all I want to do is make sure that you have had an opportunity to respond, or if there was anything else you wish to add that you didn't have an opportunity to during cross-examination.

[Witness panel confers.]

DR. ROBERTS:  Yes.  We just -- very quickly, just to recap that what we said was Mr. Smith took us to some parts of it, but just the big picture again.

A sample of utilities that are traded, we found a benchmark of 40.09 percent, and we noted there on page 62 the 40 percent that Mr. Smith was referring to, the previous decision of the Board for all electricity distributors.  All right?

And then we talk about why it is generous.  I won't repeat that conversation.  And then we give a benchmark of ATCO Pipelines, and the benchmarks that we have fall into the range of 40 to 45 percent and then we explain why we chose a benchmark of 40 percent for hydro, based on that.

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  I guess I would like to make two points.  The first point is setting the 47 percent itself is judgmental.

And the second, I think everyone agrees that nuclear is more risky than hydro, so it doesn't seem logical to me not to have a different capital structure, if you know or everyone believes that hydro -- sorry, nuclear is more risky than hydro.

DR. ROBERTS:  And that said, despite the limitations, that takes me back to the medical test analogy I was talking about earlier.

MR. ALEXANDER:  And then the other area I wanted to ask you about was Mr. Smith asked if you were aware of any misallocations.

And all I wanted to ask you was:  Should we be concerned about the potential of misallocations, and why?

MR. SMITH:  Well, with respect, that was a question my friend asked in examination-in-chief.

DR. KRYZANOWSKI:  It is pretty hard to make that assessment unless you have data on post audits.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Sorry, just one minute, Dr. Kryzanowski.

Sorry, you did cover that, did you not, Mr. Alexander?

MR. ALEXANDER:  I could -- I did, but I wanted to make sure --


MR. SMITH:  That you made the point?

MR. ALEXANDER:  I can leave it and move on.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Why don't you do that?

MR. ALEXANDER:  That is probably the easiest thing to do.  I think that covers everything I had for re-direct.  Thank you, panel.  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  Thank you.  The panel is excused with the Board's thanks.

DR. ROBERTS:  Thank you.

MS. CHAPLIN:  I see we are approaching 4:30, so we will break for the day.

I believe we will be beginning with panel 10 tomorrow.

MR. SMITH:  Madam, Members of the Panel, just before we go, I sort of almost don't want to say this, but we have looked into the question of how much more time it is going to take to run the fourth scenario.

Mr. Mauti is I believe here, if you have questions for him.  I have been told the date is November 25th.  I can tell you I have pushed as hard as I can to get the
number -- the date earlier.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay.

MR. SMITH:  I am sure that is not what you wanted to hear.

MS. CHAPLIN:  That's quite all right, Mr. Smith.  We will deal with it.  We will consider our options and let everyone know tomorrow.  Sorry?

MR. ALEXANDER:  Sorry, Madam Chair, just one thing I forgot to add to the record just for the Board's reference.

The copy of the Dr. Kryzanowski and Dr. Roberts' evidence that is included in the OPG cross-examination reference book at K12.4 doesn't include the five revised pages.  So this is just for the Board's reference, depending on what --


MS. CHAPLIN:  We have those pages.

MR. ALEXANDER:  I just wanted to make sure the Board is aware of that.

MS. CHAPLIN:  Yes, thank you.  Nine o'clock tomorrow morning.
--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:28 p.m.
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